

REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA

COMPLIANCE AUDIT REPORT for the year ended March 2022



supreme AUDIT INSTITUTION OF INDIA लोकहितार्थ सत्यनिष्टा Dedicated to Truth in Public Interest



Government of Kerala Report No. 3 of the year 2023

REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA

COMPLIANCE AUDIT REPORT

for the year ended March 2022

Government of Kerala Report No. 3 of the year 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Description	Reference		
Description	Paragraph	Page	
PREFACE		iii	
OVERVIEW		v	
CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION			
About this Report	1.1	1	
Profile of units under audit jurisdiction	1.2	1	
Authority for Audit	1.3	2	
Organisational structure of the Office of the Principal Accountant General (Audit I), Kerala	1.4	2	
Planning and conduct of audit	1.5	2	
Lack of responsiveness of Government to Audit	1.6	3	
CHAPTER II - SUBJECT-SPECIFIC COMPLIANCE	E AUDIT		
REVENUE AND DISASTER MANAGEMENT DEPA	ARTMENT		
Assignment of Government Land in Kerala	2.1	5	
CHAPTER III - COMPLIANCE AUDIT PARAGRA	PHS		
Fraudulent claims/ payments			
LABOUR AND SKILLS DEPARTMENT			
Payment of fraudulent placement claims under PMKVY Scheme	3.1	39	
Excess payment			
FOOD, CIVIL SUPPLIES AND CONSUMER AFFAI	RS DEPART	MENT	
Wrong application of interest rate by Supplyco led to excess payment to a supplier	3.2	41	
Non/ short collection of revenue			
REVENUE AND DISASTER MANAGEMENT DEPA	ARTMENT		
Non-levy of building tax due to buildings escaping assessment resulting in non/ short collection of revenue amounting to ₹31.60 crore	3.3	43	
WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT			
Short collection of water charges due to misclassification of buildings as flats	3.4	45	
Regularity issue			
FISHERIES AND PORTS DEPARTMENT			
Excess interest burden of ₹3.61 crore on beneficiaries in violation of scheme guidelines	3.5	47	
Unfruitful expenditure			
AGRICULTURE DEVELOPMENT AND FADEPARTMENT	ARMERS'	WELFARE	
Plantation activities of Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited	3.6	49	
Unfruitful expenditure on a dairy farm by the Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited	3.7	56	

APPENDICES

Appendix No.	Description	Page
1.1	Department-wise details of outstanding Inspection Reports and paragraphs as on 31 January 2023	59
1.2	Details of Action Taken Notes pending as of September 2022	60
1.3	Details of pendency in Action Taken Notes relating to PSUs as of September 2022	61
1.4	Statement showing the details of paragraphs pending discussion by the Public Accounts Committee as of September 2022	62
1.5	Statement showing the details of paragraphs pending discussion by the Committee on Public Undertakings as of September 2022	63
2.1	Details of sampling	64
2.2	Year-wise details of assignments made in the State	66
2.3	List of cases where 'Occupied' form of <i>patta</i> was issued instead of 'Unoccupied' form	67
2.4	Irregular continuance of leases under erstwhile rules	68
2.5	Non-remittance of lease rent	69
2.6	Defective calculation of lease rent	70
2.7	Utilisation of assigned land for non-assigned purposes	71
3.1	Non-levy of building tax due to buildings escaping assessment	72
3.2	Non-assessment of building tax in cases reported by the Village Officer	73
3.3	Details of cases of non/ short levy of building tax detected in joint physical verification	74
3.4	Excess interest collected from beneficiaries during 2013-14 to 2020-21	75

PREFACE

This Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the year ended 31 March 2022 is prepared for submission to the Governor of Kerala under Article 151 (2) of the Constitution for being laid before the State Legislature.

The Report contains significant results of Compliance Audit of the Departments and Autonomous Bodies of the Government of Kerala including Departments of Agriculture Development and Farmers' Welfare, Fisheries and Ports, Food, Civil Supplies and Consumer Affairs, Labour and Skills, Revenue and Disaster Management and Water Resources.

The instances mentioned in this report are those, which came to notice in the course of test audit for the period 2021-22 as well as those, which came to notice in earlier years, but could not be reported in the previous Audit Reports. Instances relating to period subsequent to 2021-22 are also included, wherever found necessary.

The audit was conducted in conformity with the Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India.



OVERVIEW

This Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India contains one subject-specific Compliance Audit and seven Compliance Audit paragraphs including instances of lapses in internal control, non/ short collection of revenue, underutilisation of assets, shortcoming in implementation of rules, unfruitful expenditure etc., involving ₹326.77 crore. The major audit findings are mentioned below.

Subject-specific Compliance Audit

Audit identified certain key compliance issues based on risk factors and topical importance for conduct of regularity audit in addition to conduct of regular propriety audit. Significant deficiencies observed during such audits are detailed in the following paragraph.

Assignment of Government Land in Kerala

Kerala is one of the smallest States in India covering an area of 38,863 sq. km (1.18 per cent). Based on ownership, the land in the State is divided into private land and Government land. The Kerala Government Land Assignment Act, 1960 (KLA Act) applies to all assignments of revenue land in the State. By virtue of powers vested through Section 7 of the Act, Government of Kerala formulated various rules for the assignment of Government land. The Travancore Cochin Government Assignment Act, 1950 and all rules and orders that were in force relating to assignment of Government land in the Malabar district were repealed with the enactment (November 1960) of the KLA Act. Assignment of land in Kannan Devan Hills village in the Devikulam taluk in Idukki district is regulated under the Kannan Devan Hills (Resumption of lands) Act, 1971 and rules made thereunder.

An approved list of Government and assignable land was not prepared in any of the test-checked districts in the State. Rules for Assignment of Land within Municipal and Corporation Areas, 1995 did not prescribe any limit on the area of land assignable for purposes other than house sites resulting in Government assigning land without limits in Municipal and Corporation areas. Land was being assigned to ineligible persons. Land was transferred on registry to various agencies without collecting the market value and such lands were even being used for commercial activities. Audit noticed instances of irregular assignment of non-assignable land. Failure of Government/ Revenue authorities to take decision regarding renewal of lease rent resulted in unauthorised occupation of land as well as loss of revenue to Government. No mechanism was in place (involving co-ordination with Registration Department) to ensure that all leases were getting registered which could have a deterrent effect on potentially fraudulent alienation of assigned lands. Lease rents of land were neither being revised as per the periodicity set by extant rules nor being collected regularly causing loss to exchequer. Government has not taken rectification measures like resumption of the land in violation of conditions. Waiver of lease rent on land provided to Clubs and other agencies caused monetary loss to Government. Similarly, assigned land were being utilised for other purposes and there were instances of alienation of assigned land in violation of Rules.

The illegalities relating to the assignment of Government land are to be dealt with strongly and action must be taken against delinquent officers who have by negligence or complicity abetted these violations. Accordingly, Government must take rectification measures to set right the irregularities so that public interests are served and fix responsibility on the officials concerned for such lapse. Responsibility should be fixed in cases of assignment of land to ineligible persons, non-collection of market value in cases of assignment on registry and in cases of assigned land not being used for intended purpose.

Large number of court cases relating to land lease were under stay and the stay period ranged from one to 23 years. The maintenance of records and registers relating to lease of land was deficient resulting in loss of vital information.

(Paragraph 2.1)

Compliance Audit paragraphs

Audit noticed instances where funds released by the Government of Kerala against fraudulent claims, non/short collection of revenue, excess payment, etc., due to lack of administrative oversight and concerted action at various levels. The details are given below.

Fraudulent claims/ payments

• Failure of Kerala Academy for Skills Excellence to ensure the genuineness of placement documents submitted by the training partners resulted in undue financial benefit of ₹16.72 lakh to the training partners.

(Paragraph 3.1)

Excess payment

• Erroneous application of commercial interest rate instead of bank rate by Supplyco for calculating interest on delayed payment led to excess payment of ₹1.07 crore.

(Paragraph 3.2)

Non/short collection of revenue

• The failure on the part of Revenue department officials to assess buildings liable for building tax resulted in non/ short collection of revenue amounting to ₹31.60 crore to the Government.

(Paragraph 3.3)

• Misclassification of buildings as flats by Kerala Water Authority resulted in short collection of water charges to the tune of ₹82.06 lakh.

(Paragraph 3.4)

Regularity issue

• Violation of scheme guidelines of National Backward Classes Finance and Development Corporation for loan assistance resulted in imposition of excess interest burden of ₹3.61 crore on the beneficiaries by Government of Kerala.

(Paragraph 3.5)

Unfruitful expenditure

• Plantation activities of Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited

PCKL was consistently incurring loss in its operation and returns from its main plantations i.e., rubber and cashew were decreasing. PCKL failed to adopt the good practices advocated by the Rubber Board to reduce the cost of production, increase productive life of trees and to manage tapping labour absenteeism. Failure of PCKL to utilise annual census details to carry out replantation of rubber trees in a scientific manner resulted in increase in area with old and senile trees. PCKL also failed to maintain the recommended density of rubber trees in its estates.

(Paragraph 3.6)

• Non-purchase of cows for the dairy farm project by Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited resulted in unfruitful expenditure of ₹5.54 crore.

(Paragraph 3.7)

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1.1. About this Report

This Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India (C&AG) relates to matters arising from Compliance Audit of Government Departments, Autonomous Bodies and Public Sector Undertakings.

Compliance Audit refers to examination of transactions relating to expenditure of the audited entities to ascertain whether the provisions of the Constitution of India, applicable laws, rules, regulations and various orders and instructions issued by the competent authorities are being complied with.

The primary purpose of the Report is to bring to the notice of the State Legislature important results of audit. The audit findings are expected to enable the Executive to take corrective action as also to frame policies and directives that will lead to improved financial management of the organisations, thus, contributing to better governance.

This chapter explains the profile of units under audit jurisdiction, planning and extent of audit and follow up on previous Audit Reports.

1.2. Profile of units under audit jurisdiction

There were 47 Departments in the State at Secretariat level during 2021-22. The Principal Accountant General (Audit I), Kerala (PAG (Audit I)), conducts audit of 33 Secretariat Departments, all Public Sector Undertakings/ Autonomous Bodies thereunder and Local Self-Government Institutions (LSGIs) in the State. The Departments are headed by Additional Chief Secretaries/ Principal Secretaries/ Secretaries, who are assisted by Directors/ Commissioners and subordinate officers under them. The Principal Accountant General (Audit II), Kerala, conducts audit of 14 Departments.

A comparative position of expenditure incurred by the Government during the year 2021-22 and in the preceding four years is given in **Table 1.1**.

Table 1.1: Comparative position of expenditure

(₹ in crore)

Disbursements	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22
Revenue expenditure	99948.35	110316.39	104719.92	123446.33	146179.51
General services	45523.77	50827.13	55504.03	50360.72	70110.00
Social services	35876.27	38210.77	34044.77	44832.44	50695.61
Economic services	11351.08	12379.77	9107.25	18760.72	15713.81
Grants-in-aid and contributions	7197.23	8898.72	6063.87	9492.45	9660.09
Capital expenditure	8748.87	7430.54	8454.80	12889.65	14191.73
General services	268.01	197.96	157.42	259.84	268.26
Social services	1405.89	1784.29	1090.64	2277.90	3342.63
Economic services	7074.97	5448.29	7206.74	10351.91	10580.84
Total	108697.22	117746.93	113174.72	136335.98	160371.24

(Source: Finance Accounts for the respective years)

1.3. Authority for Audit

The authority for audit by the C&AG is derived from Articles 149 and 151 of the Constitution of India and the Comptroller and Auditor General's (Duties, Powers and Conditions of Service) Act, 1971 (C&AG's (DPC) Act). C&AG conducts audit of expenditure of the Departments of the Government of Kerala (GoK) under Section 13 of the C&AG's (DPC) Act. C&AG is the sole auditor in respect of 27 Autonomous Bodies which are audited under Sections 19 and 20(1) of the C&AG's (DPC) Act. In addition, C&AG also conducts audit of 182 Autonomous Bodies which are substantially funded by the Government, under Section 14 and 15 of the C&AG's (DPC) Act besides 1,158 educational institutions¹, 50 Public Sector Undertakings and 1,200 LSGIs². Principles and methodologies for various audits are prescribed in the Auditing Standards and the Regulations on Audit and Accounts, issued by the C&AG.

1.4. Organisational structure of the Office of the Principal Accountant General (Audit I), Kerala

Under the directions of the C&AG, the Office of the PAG (Audit I) conducts audit of 33 Government Departments and Offices, PSUs, Autonomous Bodies and Institutions thereunder, which are spread all over the State. PAG (Audit I) is assisted by four Senior Deputy Accountants General/ Deputy Accountants General.

1.5. Planning and conduct of audit

The audit process starts with the assessment of risks faced by various Departments of Government based on expenditure incurred, criticality/complexity of activities, level of delegated financial powers, assessment of overall internal controls and concerns of stakeholders. Previous audit findings are also considered in this exercise. Based on this risk assessment, the frequency and extent of audit are decided.

After completion of audit, Inspection Reports (IRs) containing audit observations are issued to the Heads of the Offices and Departments. The Departments are requested to furnish replies to the audit observations within four weeks from the date of receipt of the IRs. Whenever replies are received, audit observations are either settled or further action for compliance is advised. The important audit observations arising out of these IRs are processed for inclusion in the Reports of the C&AG of India, which are submitted to the Governor of the State under Article 151 (2) of the Constitution of India for placing in the State Legislature.

Grama Panchayats: 941, Block Panchayats: 152, District Panchayats: 14, Municipal Corporations: 6 and Municipalities: 87.

Government-aided Colleges: 184; Government-aided Higher Secondary Schools: 846; and Government-aided Vocational Higher Secondary Schools: 128.

During 2021-22, the Office of the PAG (Audit I) utilised 10,699 party days to carry out the audit (compliance, performance and financial audits) of 672 units of various departments/ organisations under its jurisdiction. The Audit Plan covered those units/ entities, which were vulnerable to significant risks as per risk assessment.

1.6. Lack of responsiveness of Government to Audit

1.6.1. Outstanding Inspection Reports

The Handbook of Instructions for Speedy Settlement of Audit Objections/ Inspection Reports/ timely disposal of draft audit paragraphs and matters pertaining to the Public Accounts Committee, issued by the State Government in 2010 and 2017 provides for prompt response by the Executive to the Inspection Reports (IRs) issued by the Accountant General for rectification, in compliance with the prescribed rules and procedures and accountability for the deficiencies, lapses etc., noticed during audit inspection. The Heads of Offices and next higher authorities are required to comply with the audit observations contained in the IRs, rectify the defects and omissions and promptly report their compliance to the Accountant General within four weeks of receipt of IRs. Half-yearly reports of pending IRs are being sent to the Secretaries of the Departments to facilitate monitoring of audit observations.

As on 31 January 2023, 5,771 IRs (28,543 paragraphs) (issued upto 31 March 2022) were outstanding in respect of 31 Departments. Details of IRs and paragraphs outstanding are given in **Appendix 1.1**.

1.6.2. Response of Departments to the paragraphs included in this Report

Compliance Audit paragraphs were forwarded to the Additional Chief Secretaries/ Principal Secretaries/ Secretaries of Departments concerned during August 2022 to January 2023 for furnishing replies. Response of Government was not received for the subject-specific Compliance Audit and one out of seven Compliance Audit paragraphs featured in this Report. The replies received were suitably incorporated in the Report.

1.6.3. Follow up on Audit Reports

According to the Handbook of Instructions for Speedy Settlement of Audit Objections/ Inspection Reports/ timely disposal of draft audit paragraphs and matters pertaining to the Public Accounts Committee and Committee on Public Undertakings issued by the State Government in 2010 and 2017, the Administrative Departments should submit Statements of Action Taken Notes on audit paragraphs included in the Reports of the C&AG directly to the Legislature Secretariat, with copies to the Accountant General within two months of their being laid on the Table of the Legislature. As of September 2022, eight Administrative Departments failed to comply with the instructions

and did not submit Statements of Action Taken Notes of 67 paragraphs for the period 2014-15 to 2020-21 as detailed in **Appendix 1.2**. Similarly in the case of PSUs, as of September 2022, 20 Departments failed to comply with the instructions and did not submit Statements of Action Taken Notes of eight paragraphs for the period 2015-16 to 2020-21 as detailed in **Appendix 1.3**.

1.6.4. Paragraphs pending discussion by the Public Accounts Committee and Committee on Public Undertakings

Ninety-four paragraphs pertaining to 15 Departments for the period 2013-14 to 2020-21 were pending discussion by the Public Accounts Committee as of September 2022 (**Appendix 1.4**). Twelve paragraphs pertaining to 21 Departments for the period 2015-16 to 2020-21 were pending discussion by the Committee on Public Undertakings as of September 2022 (**Appendix 1.5**).

SUBJECT-SPECIFIC COMPLIANCE AUDIT

CHAPTER II SUBJECT-SPECIFIC COMPLIANCE AUDIT

REVENUE AND DISASTER MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

2.1. Assignment of Government Land in Kerala

2.1.1. Introduction

Kerala is one of the smallest States in India covering an area of 38,863 sq. km (1.18 per cent). Based on ownership, the land in the State is divided into private land³ and Government land⁴. The Kerala Government Land Assignment Act, 1960 (KLA Act) applies to all assignments of revenue land in the State. By virtue of powers vested through Section 7 of the Act, Government of Kerala (GoK) formulated various rules⁵ for the assignment of Government land. The Travancore Cochin Government Assignment Act, 1950 and all rules and orders that were in force relating to assignment of Government land in the Malabar district⁶ were repealed with the enactment (November 1960) of the KLA Act. Assignment of land in Kannan Devan Hills village in the Devikulam taluk in Idukki district is regulated under the Kannan Devan Hills (Resumption of lands) Act, 1971 and rules⁷ made thereunder.

2.1.2. Organisational setup

The Revenue department is headed by the Additional Chief Secretary (ACS) at the Government level. At departmental level, it is headed by the Commissioner of Land Revenue (CLR), who is assisted by Joint Commissioner and Assistant Commissioners. At the district level, District Collectors (DC) are the functional heads, who are assisted by Deputy Collectors, Revenue Divisional Officers (RDO), Tahsildars and Village Officers (VO).

2.1.3. Audit objectives, scope and methodology

The Compliance Audit covering the period 2017-22 was conducted to assess whether:

• the assignments of Government land were carried out as per the provisions contained in Acts, Rules and Government orders;

Land owned by individuals, institutions, undertakings, companies, etc.

⁴ Government land includes all public roads, streets, lanes and paths, bridges, rivers, lakes, etc.

Kerala Land Assignment Rules (KLAR) in 1964 (for panchayat areas), Rules for Assignment of Land within Municipal and Corporation Areas (RALMCA) in 1995 (for Municipal/ Corporation areas), The Kerala Land Assignment (Regularisation of Occupations of Forest Lands Prior to 01.01.1977) Special Rules, Rules for lease of Government lands for Cardamom cultivation 1961, etc.

Those rules and orders inconsistent with KLA Act, 1960 continued to be in force unless and until superseded by anything done or any action taken under the Act.

The Kannan Devan Hills (Reservation and Assignment of Vested Lands) Rules 1977

- revenue was realised as per the Rules and Government orders issued from time to time; and
- adequate monitoring mechanism existed in the Department for ensuring the proper usage of assigned land.

The scope of Audit extended to the coverage of assignments made on Government land through registry, lease and licence by the Revenue Department. Audit verified the assignments in selected field offices like Village Offices, Taluk Offices, Revenue Divisional Offices, District Collectorates, etc., with the relevant Acts/ Rules/ orders issued by the Government from time to time, for the period from 2017-18 to 2021-22. Cases of assignment on registry/ leases/ licences prior to 2017-18 were also verified to check the compliance of conditions on which such lands were assigned. Records of Revenue department and office of the CLR were also scrutinised.

Four districts⁸ out of 14 districts in the State and eleven taluks⁹ from these four districts were selected for audit using the SRSWOR¹⁰ method. Three villages from each taluk were selected after verifying the initial records in the taluks. Revenue Divisional Offices controlling the Taluk Offices were also selected for audit. Besides the above, Special Land Assignment Offices in Idukki district such as Assistant Cardamom Settlement Office, Kumily and all Special Land Assignment Offices in the selected taluks in Idukki district were also covered. Details are given in **Appendix 2.1**.

An Entry Conference was conducted with the ACS, Revenue Department on 13 May 2022 wherein the scope, methodology, criteria, etc., were discussed in detail. On conclusion of audit, the audit findings were discussed with the ACS on 24 January 2023 and outcomes were suitably incorporated.

2.1.4. Audit criteria

Audit observations were benchmarked against the criteria derived from the following documents:

- The Kerala Government Land Assignment Act, 1960
- Kerala Land Assignment Rules, 1964
- Rules for Assignment of Land within Municipal and Corporation Areas, 1995
- Kerala Land Assignment (Regularisation of Occupations of Forest land prior to 01 January 1977) Special Rules, 1993
- Rules for lease of Government Lands for Cardamom cultivation, 1961
- The Kannan Devan Hills (Resumption of Lands) Act, 1971

-

⁸ Thiruvananthapuram, Idukki, Ernakulam and Kozhikode

⁹ Thiruvananthapuram, Nedumangad, Idukki, Thodupuzha, Devikulam, Udumbanchola, Aluva, Muvattupuzha, Kanayannur, Kozhikode and Vadakara

Simple Random Sampling Without Replacement

- The Kannan Devan Hills (Reservation and Assignment of Vested Lands)
 Rules, 1977
- Government Orders/ Circulars issued from time to time.

Audit findings

"Assignment" means¹¹ transfer of land by way of registry¹² and includes a lease¹³ and a grant of licence¹⁴ for the use of land. While the assigning authority for registry and leases in Municipal/ Corporation areas and panchayat areas is DC and Tahsildar respectively, the GoK is the assigning authority in the case of assignments to institutions. For registry of land in Panchayat areas, assigning authority for beneficial enjoyment is the RDO. Besides scrutinising individual assignments of Government land through registry, lease and licence in all the selected offices, Audit also conducted an exercise to analyse the procedures followed for assigning Government land *vis-à-vis* those prescribed for it.

Though the KLA Act was enacted in the year 1960, the rules for assignment of land in Panchayat areas came into force in 1964 (KLAR) and that for Municipal/Corporation areas came into force in 1995 (RALMCA). Various Government orders were also issued for the effective implementation of the rules. During the course of audit in the selected offices, Audit noticed deficiencies in assignment through registry, lease and licence, defects in realisation of revenue, improper usage of assigned land and improper monitoring. This included various systemic issues as well as individual cases. Significant observations are brought out in the subsequent paras.

Data on assignments

2.1.5. Details of assignments made on registry and lease

In Kerala, a total of 33,057¹⁵ assignments involving an area of 6,216.25 Ha were made through registry and 2,920 assignments involving an area of 775.78 Ha were made through lease by the Government during the period covered in audit. The details are given in **Appendix 2.2**. The number¹⁶ of assignments made through registry and under lease in selected districts as on 31 March 2022 was 91,852 and 1,183 respectively. Audit noticed that the CLR is not maintaining any consolidated data relating to assignments made on registry/ lease/ licence. However, at the instance of Audit, such data were collected from DCs. The same has been included in the Report. Audit noticed mismatch in figures furnished

Referred in revenue documents as 'pattayam' or 'patta'. Lands assigned on registry are heritable, alienable (subject to conditions) and mortgageable for improvements of land

⁶ Source: Data furnished by the District Collectorates and Taluk Offices

¹¹ Rule 2 (c) of KLAR and RALMCA

Referred in revenue documents as 'pattam'. Lessee can use the leased land for the purpose assigned during the currency of lease.

Licences can be issued for temporary occupations such as for usage of playgrounds, putting of pandals or sheds, for entertainments or cinemas, etc.

¹⁵ Source: Data furnished by CLR

by the CLR and that furnished by the selected DCs to Audit. During Exit Conference, CLR stated (January 2023) that they would consolidate and update all related data.

Consolidated data of all Government land, already assigned land, details of occupants, revenue realised and pending etc., would assist the Government while formulating policies for land assignment in the future. Such data would also be useful for monitoring the receipts receivable on assigned land.

2.1.6. Non-maintenance of list of Government and assignable land

Rules¹⁷ stipulate that before granting registry, Government should cause to be prepared lists of lands which should be reserved for Government or public purposes in each village and lists of lands which may be made available for assignment in each village. For rural¹⁸ areas, lists prepared should be submitted to the Government for approval and action to assign such lands on registry should be taken only after the Government or any subordinate authority authorised by Government approve such lists. In respect of urban¹⁹ areas, list of assignable land should be prepared by Tahsildar and submitted before the Land Assignment Committee, for consideration. The list, along with the recommendation of the Committee should be forwarded to the DC for his approval.

Audit noticed that a list approved by GoK or DC was not maintained in any of the 33 selected villages, 11 selected taluks and four selected District Collectorates during the period of audit. Owing to this, none of the 21,207²⁰ assignments on registry and 23²¹ assignments on lease made in the selected offices during 2017-18 to 2021-22, were from a list approved by the GoK/DC. Audit observed that, on receipt of application from encroachers for assignment of land, instead of assigning land from an approved list of assignable land, the land encroached by the applicant was included in the list of assignable land after obtaining approval from the DC and then assigned. Audit further observes that due to non-maintenance of an approved list, the priorities and reservation for assignment such as for ex-service men, SC/ST population, etc., as required under the rules could not be put into practice. The rules in force requires that land be assigned from a list approved by GoK. In the absence of such a list, the assignments made do not conform to the extant rules and hence irregular.

CLR, in the Exit Conference accepted (January 2023) the findings of Audit.

The fact of non-maintenance of a list of assignable land was pointed out in the Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India (No. 6) on Land Management by the Government of Kerala (paragraph 2.7.3) for the year ended

19 Rule 6(5) of RALMCA

¹⁷ Rule 11(1) of KLAR and Rule 6(1) of RALMCA

¹⁸ Rule 11(6) of KLAR

²⁰ Thiruvananthapuram – 429, Idukki – 19,549, Ernakulam – 841, Kozhikode – 388

²¹ Thiruvananthapuram – 13, Idukki – 2 Ernakulam – 2, Kozhikode – 6

2014. However, even after nine years, the list of assignable land has not been maintained.

Assignments on registry

As per Rules²², Government lands could be assigned on registry to individuals/ institutions for purposes of house sites, shop sites or other commercial or charitable purposes, personal cultivation and for beneficial enjoyment of adjoining registered holdings. Rules²³ further stipulate that land held under lease, either current or time expired, granted under any rules or orders in force at the time of such grant and which does not exceed five cents in the Municipal areas and three cents in the Corporation areas shall be considered for assignment on registry to the holder on payment of land value at market rate and in such cases, lease rent if any, outstanding against such land should be cleared before issue of lease or assignment on registry. Assignment on registry or lease shall²⁴ be liable to cancellation for contravention of any of the conditions enumerated in the *patta* and in such cases the land shall be resumed. Rules²⁵ empower the Government to assign land in public interest if it considers necessary. 21,207²⁶ assignments on registry were made in the selected districts during the period 2017-18 to 2021-22.

During the course of audit, Audit noticed various systemic issues as well as individual issues relating to assignments on registry. These include lacunae in rules, irregular assignments, assignment to ineligible persons, purchase of land for assignment at exorbitant rates, deprivation of land due to lapse on the part of revenue officials, etc. These are discussed below.

Systemic issues

2.1.7. Non-prescription of limit for assignment of land on registry in the Rules

As per RALMCA, land can be assigned for house sites, shop sites or other commercial or charitable purposes and for beneficial enjoyment of adjoining registered holdings. Rules²⁷ state that an extent of 10 cents in Municipal areas and five cents in Corporation areas can be assigned for house site. While the Rules envisage that the land value at market rate at the time of assignment should be realised irrespective of income for assigning land for purposes other than house sites, as the extent of land that can be assigned for shop sites or other commercial or charitable purposes were not specified in the Rules, it implies that there is no limit to the extent of land that can be assigned in Municipal and Corporation areas for that purpose. As per RALMCA, land held under lease either current or time expired, granted under any rules or order in force at the

_

²² Rule 4 of KLAR and Rule 3 of RALMCA

²³ Rule 5 of RALMCA

²⁴ Rule 17 of RALMCA, Rule 8(3) of KLAR

²⁵ Rule 21(ii) of RALMCA and Rule 24 of KLAR

²⁶ Source: Data furnished by DCs

²⁷ Rule 4

time of such grant and the extent of which does not exceed five cents in Municipal areas and three cents in the Corporation areas shall be considered for assignment on registry to the holder on payment of land value at market rate.

In Thiruvananthapuram Corporation area, 25 cents of land in Anchamada village (now Sasthamangalam village) was leased out (March 1967) to Lions Club, Thiruvananthapuram for a period of 20 years at a rate of ₹3.50 per acre per annum. The lease rent was raised (1986) to ₹12,500 per annum and the lease continued till 1997. For not remitting the lease rent, the land was taken back in November 1997. On 20 May 1999, the Club submitted a formal application to Government to assign the land in their favour. Government issued orders (July 2002) assigning the land on registry to the Lions Club, Thiruvananthapuram after realising an amount of ₹63.08 lakh²8. The Club was given possession of the land in 2003 and the *patta* was issued to the Club in May 2018 for 25 cents of land. Thus, Government provided undue benefit to Lions Club, Thiruvananthapuram by assigning 25 cents of land against the maximum permitted three cents for land held on lease.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), ACS stated that though the assignment was not illegal, it was not desirable.

While the Rules have not prescribed the area of land that can be assigned for purpose other than house sites, due to this defect in rule, Audit found that Government can assign land without any limits in Municipal and Corporation areas for commercial or charitable purposes.

2.1.8. Assignment of land in the absence of rules

Even though the KLA Act was enacted in 1960, the Rules for Assignment of Land in Municipal and Corporation Areas (RALMCA) were framed only in November 1995. As per the Act, land can be assigned subject to such rules as may be made by Government prescribing the manner in which assignment of land may be made. As RALMCA came into force only in November 1995, there existed no rule between 1960 and November 1995 which authorised registry of land in Municipal and Corporation limits. Two instances of irregular assignment of land without rule provision are discussed below.

Trivandrum Tennis Club (TTC)²⁹ was formed in the year 1938 and was granted³⁰ four acres and 27.20 cents of land in Anchamada Pakuthy (now Sasthamangalam village) in Thiruvananthapuram for a period of 25 years from August 1950. During the scrutiny of records relating to lease of land to TTC, it was found that in 1979, Sreepandaravaka Special Tahsildar assigned 20 cents of land on registry to Divisional Manager,

^{28 ₹50} lakh being the market value of the land at the rate of ₹ two lakh per cent and ₹13.08 lakh being the lease rent arrears due from the Club for the period from March 1967 to 10 November 1997

TTC is engaged in promoting the game of tennis among its members and limited facilities to common people. Besides this, the Club is running bar, cafeteria, parcel services, renting out rooms, etc.

GO dated 14 September 1957 read with GPR dated 18 February 1950 (Order issued by Chief Secretary of erstwhile State of Travancore Cochin)

Hindustan Petroleum Corporation Ltd. (HPCL), Ernakulam from 4.27 acres of land that was earlier assigned on lease to TTC. Audit noticed that HPCL was in possession of the land and has not remitted any land tax till date (August 2022).

The CLR accepted (November 2022) that the 20 cents of land was assigned to HPCL and stated that the files relating to these were not available.

• On the basis of a Government order issued in 1975, 19.25 cents of land was assigned (October 1995) on registry to Rama Varma Club, Ernakulam. Audit noticed that the Club was still in possession of the assigned land (July 2022).

During Exit Conference the ACS replied (January 2023) that Government would look into the matter and take necessary steps.

The CLR accepted (March 2023) that there existed no special rule for assignment of land in Municipal and Corporation areas between 1960 and 1995. The assignments were done by invoking the provisions of KLAR 1964 and without considering whether the lands were lying in Panchayat, Municipality or Corporation areas upto 1995. Audit observes that the assignments made between 1960 and November 1995 by invoking provisions of KLAR was irregular, as these rules were not applicable to the lands situated within the limits of Corporation/ Municipality.

As per the Act, rules are to be framed prescribing the manner in which assignment of land are to be made, eligibility conditions of beneficiaries, order of priority, authority competent to assign land, etc. In the absence of Rules, there was no assurance that the assignments were done as envisaged by the law makers through the Act.

2.1.9. Irregular assignment of land on rent

Land vested with Government after revenue recovery action is known as bought-in-land. On confirmation of sale and issuance of sale certificate, the property vests with Government free of all encumbrances. As per the KLA Act and Rules made thereunder, Government land can be assigned only on registry or lease or on licence. Further, provisions contained in the Rules mention that the lease rent be calculated as a percentage of market value of the land in question. On a scrutiny of bought-in-land register maintained in Ernakulam Village Office, Audit noticed that consequent to revenue recovery action by the Government in 1988, a piece of land (Sy. No. 790/1) and building situated in five cents of land owned by M/s Mether Metals was brought into Government possession (1988) as 'bought-in-land'. Instead of evicting M/s Mether Metals, the land and building was rented out to them by the Tahsildar, Kanayannur for ₹7,200 per year which was revised to ₹9,600 per year in 2005. As per the Act and Rules, the land and building could only be assigned on lease with lease rent to be collected or on registry after realising market value of land and there was no provision of renting out land. The lease rent was to be collected as a

percentage of the market value (five *per cent* of ₹443.28 lakh³¹, i.e., ₹22.16 lakh per annum) instead of rent of ₹9,600.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), ACS admitted that there was no provision in rules to rent out Government land.

Absence of provisions for conduct of review by Government or any authority nominated in this regard led to occurrence and non-rectification of such irregularities.

2.1.10. Deprivation of assignment of land due to lapse on the part of Revenue authorities

Government of India (GoI) enacted the Forest (Conservation) Act in 1980 for the conservation of forests and matters connected therewith. Section 2 of this Act envisages that no State Government or other Authority shall make, except with the prior approval of the GoI, any order directing that any forest land be assigned to private person. GoK ordered (August 1989) a joint physical verification by the Revenue and Forest department officials for identifying occupants who were in possession of forest land as on 01 January 1977 and directed to issue the extract of 'Record of Possession' (RoP) to those found eligible for occupation of forest land.

Scrutiny of files revealed that there were 650 applicants in Thiruvananthapuram district holding forest land before 01 January 1977. Of this, joint verification in the area occupied by 364 applicants only was conducted by the officials of Revenue and Forest Departments. However, the proposals were not sent to GoI for concurrence³². Audit noticed that RoPs were issued to 317 beneficiaries.

On the basis of complaints received from occupants belonging to Scheduled Tribes, Government decided (April 2017) to assign land in lieu of RoPs already issued. However, this did not materialise as a list of eligible beneficiaries was not got approved from GoI and as the basic data on joint verification already conducted was missing. Hence, the exercise of identifying the beneficiaries through a survey is being repeated now.

Audit observed that the Government order issued in August 1989 and the grant of RoP without getting prior approval of GoI was a violation of the stipulations contained in Section 2 of the Forest Conservation Act, 1980 and was without the backing of any Rules.

In the Exit Conference (January 2023), CLR, while accepting that there was delay on part of Revenue authorities stated that the Government had already taken permission from GoI to upload data in bulk and nobody would be deprived of the land. However, the fact remains that the laxity of Revenue authorities in forwarding joint verification list for approval of GoI and non-maintenance of joint verification list resulted in deprivation of assignment of land to the

.

³¹ As on 30 March 2022

³² As required under Section 2 of the Forest Conservation Act, 1980

beneficiaries. Government should identify the delinquent officials and fix responsibility on them.

2.1.11. Non-conduct of survey to protect ancient monuments

The GoK had notified³³ (May 2006) their intention to declare the Munivaras³⁴ and certain areas of land comprised in five³⁵ survey numbers holding these Munivaras in Marayoor and Kanthalloor villages in Devikulam taluk, Idukki district as protected monuments. Final notification in this regard was issued in January 2018. Though the notification was issued in 2006, the Revenue authorities have not surveyed or demarcated the notified areas. It was seen that five assignments were made during the audit period in 73.04 ares (1.8 acres) of land in Sy. No. 277/1³⁶. As the survey and demarcation was not done by the Revenue authorities, Audit could not ensure whether the assignments were done in the protected areas. Laxity on the part of Revenue authorities could possibly endanger the existence of the monuments.

Compliance issues

2.1.12. Issue of 'Occupied' form of patta instead of 'Unoccupied' form

KLAR stipulates³⁷ that in cases where registry is made, *patta* shall be issued in the form in Appendix II to those rules for occupied lands³⁸ and in the form in Appendix II A to those rules for unoccupied lands³⁹. As per Rule 8 of KLAR, occupied lands assigned on registry are heritable and alienable but unoccupied lands assigned on registry are heritable but not alienable for a period of twelve years from the date of assignment on registry.

Audit verified records relating to assignment of Government land through registry in the selected 11 taluks in four districts. It was noticed that in 16 out of 50 cases in three taluks for which patta was issued during the period 2018-21 (Appendix 2.3), though the occupation was after 01 August 1971, the form of patta issued to the pattadars were as prescribed in Appendix II, i.e., it was stated that the land shall be heritable and alienable.

Tahsildar, Nedumangad replied (August 2022) that incorrect form of patta was issued due to clerical mistake. Tahsildars, Aluva and Muvattupuzha replied that the form of registry was provided by the District Collectorate, Ernakulam.

GO(Rt) No. 210/2006/CAD dated 25 May 2006. The notification was for the purpose of Kerala Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Sites and Remains Act, 1968.

³⁴ Muniyaras (Dolmens) are the burial monuments of the Megalithic age.

³⁵ Marayoor village – 1) 233/2 - 0.66.4 Ha, 2) 277/1 - 26.51 Ha, 3) 243/5 - 0.48.6 Ha; Kanthalloor village-4) 54/28 - 44.55.61 Ha, 5) 54/25 - 14.66 Ha

 $^{^{36}}$ Total area in Sy. No. 277/1 – 768.5 acres.

³⁷ Rule 9(2)

³⁸ 'Occupied lands' are those lands that were encroached before 01 August 1971. Occupied lands are heritable and alienable.

^{&#}x27;Unoccupied lands' were those that were assigned to those who had encroached land after 01 August 1971.

During Exit Conference, CLR accepted (January 2023) the findings of Audit and assured corrective action.

Audit observes that in all the 16 cases, there is a risk of alienation before the prescribed period as incorrect form of *patta* was issued due to negligence by Revenue authorities. Negligence on the part of the Revenue authorities in issuing assignment order in incorrect form would have to be viewed seriously by the Department. Department may check for similar cases and take necessary rectification measures to prevent alienation before the stipulated period.

2.1.13. Assignment of land to ineligible persons

As per the provisions⁴⁰ contained in the 'The Kannan Devan Hills (Reservation and Assignment of vested lands) Rules, 1977' (KDH Rules), no person who owns or holds either in proprietary right or with security of tenure more than 10 cents in extent of land and whose annual family income exceeds ₹3,000 shall be eligible for assignment of any land under these Rules and assignment can be cancelled for contravention of any of the provisions of the Rules. However, Audit noticed that in all the test-checked 26 cases⁴¹ coming under KDH Rules, land was assigned to persons whose annual income exceeded ₹3,000 and this included one person who possessed more than 10 cents of land in the same village.

Rule 8 of KDH Rules stipulates that lands assigned under these Rules shall not be alienable for a period of 12 years from the date of assignment. Out of 26 cases test-checked, Audit noticed that either a part or full of the assigned land was alienated in four cases⁴². However, no action was taken by the assigning authority to cancel the assignment for violating the provisions of the Rules.

2.1.14. Assignment of land without realising the market value

In the case of assignment of land for purposes other than house sites, land value at market rate⁴³ at the time of assignment should be realised irrespective of income of the assignee. Instances noticed by audit where this have been violated are given below.

2.1.14.1. Assignment of land to a Foundation

On the basis of a request (February 2018) from C. Achutha Menon Foundation⁴⁴, the CLR forwarded (February 2019) a proposal to the Government seeking permission for grant of 1.21 ares of land on registry to the said Foundation at a market value of ₹61.62 lakh. However, GoK issued (November 2020) directions to the DC to grant the 1.21 ares of land on registry, free of cost to C. Achutha Menon Foundation to install a statue of Shri C.

41 out of 262 cases during 2017-22

⁴⁰ Rule 6 and Rule 21 of KDH

⁴² LA Nos. 40/2020 (no date), 23/2019 (no date), 28/2018 (17.09.2018) and 16/2018 (26.04.2019)

⁴³ Rule 4 (1)(b)(iii) of RALMCA

⁴⁴ A foundation registered under the Travancore Cochin Literary, Scientific and Charitable Societies Registration Act 1955

Achutha Menon in Thycaud village in Thiruvananthapuram taluk. Accordingly, land was assigned to them and in the assignment order, it was mentioned that the land was assigned for institutional purposes. Grant of 1.21 ares of puramboke⁴⁵ land valued at ₹61.62 lakh on registry without realising the market value was a violation of the Rules. During Exit Conference, the ACS stated (January 2023) that the assignment was made by Government by invoking the special powers. Land being a scarce resource in the State, assignment of land to a non-government society for installing a statue, that too in a prime location of the capital city by invoking overriding powers of Government necessitates a rethink on the part of Government, Moreover, creation of such precedence could lead to demands for such unjustifiable assignments in future. Further, as the purpose of assignment in the assignment order was mentioned as for institutional purposes, the possibility of utilisation of 1.21 ares of land by the Foundation for any other purpose could not be ruled out. Hence, assigning land without realising cost of land for purposes other than house sites was against the Rules and was irregular.

2.1.14.2. Assignment of land to District Football Association

Twenty cents of puramboke land comprised in Vanchiyoor village, Thiruvananthapuram taluk was leased out (December 1976) to the District Football Association (DFA), Thiruvananthapuram for a period of 25 years at an annual lease rent of ₹ one per cent. The lease holder violated the conditions of the lease by not remitting the lease rent arrears and hence Government (November 1999) ordered to cancel the lease. However, DFA continued to occupy the premises. Tahsildar issued (October 2003) a notice to the DFA to vacate the premises as the land was sub-let to a furniture shop. As it was not vacated, DFA was evicted (July 2004) from the premises. The DFA submitted a representation (July 2004) to Government against eviction and the order of dispossession was cancelled (August 2004) and DFA continued to occupy the land (August 2022). Though DC issued (May 2010) demand notice for ₹51.41 lakh, this was not remitted by the DFA. However, Government by invoking Rule 21(ii) of RALMCA, assigned (November 2010) 5.46 ares (13.49 cents) of land on registry to DFA, Thiruvananthapuram free of cost and ordered to waive the entire lease rent arrears of ₹51.41 lakh. The patta was issued to the DFA in July 2011. On the basis of a complaint, the VO, Vanchiyoor village conducted an enquiry and reported (July 2020) to the Tahsildar that the land was rented out for furniture sale at a monthly rate of ₹35,000. Joint physical verification (September 2022) by Audit and Revenue authorities revealed presence of a commercial establishment and heaped up furniture. Thus, though the authorities were aware that the assigned land was being let out for commercial purposes, instead of resuming the land, they assigned the same on registry free of cost. The reading of the Rule clearly shows that the above stated provision was to be invoked only in public interest and no public interest was served when a prime land was utilised for commercial activity.

⁴⁵ Government land that can be used or set aside for public or social purposes

During the Exit Conference (January 2023), the ACS stated that the land was assigned using the special powers entrusted on them. Reply was not acceptable as the Rules prohibit assignment of land free of cost for purposes other than house sites and hence assignment of Government land without effecting any land value was irregular.

2.1.15. Purchase of land at exorbitant rates for assignment and non-achievement of intended benefit

Rule 4 read with Rule 6 of KLAR, 1964 states that Government lands can be assigned on registry for purposes of personal cultivation, house sites and beneficial enjoyment of adjoining registered holdings and the extent of Government land that shall be registered in favour of a family as house site shall not exceed 15 cents.

In November 2013, 57 families who were involved in the Chengara strike ⁴⁶ and who were assigned land in other districts (especially in Idukki and Kasaragod), started a strike claiming that the land allotted to them was not fit for inhabitation or cultivation. Their names were compared with the eligible list and 52⁴⁷ families were identified for allotment of land in Thiruvananthapuram district. Thirty four out of 52 families were rehabilitated in different parts of Thiruvananthapuram district (2014-15). For rehabilitating the remaining 18 families, advertisements were published in newspapers and four acres⁴⁸ of land belonging to a private individual was identified in Thennur village in Nedumangad taluk. This land was purchased (February 2018) by paying ₹1.56 crore (₹39,000 per cent).

In connection with the assignment of land in Thennur village in Nedumangad taluk, Audit observed the following.

• The rehabilitation package was implemented as per the provisions contained in KLA Act and KLAR. Being a rehabilitation package, the land must have been assigned on registry for the purpose of house sites. Four acres of land was assigned to 18 families, thereby giving a benefit of 22 cents for housing to each family, which was a violation of the ceiling limit of 15 cents prescribed in Rule 6 of KLAR, 1964.

The CLR replied (November 2022) that the allotment of land was as part of stopping the agitation of landless families and hence the allotment should not be treated as violation of ceiling limit under KLAR. Reply furnished was not acceptable as the Rules have not given any exemption for rehabilitation packages.

_

⁴⁶ A strike by landless people demanding land by forcefully occupying an estate belonging to M/s Harrisons Malayalam Ltd at Chengara in Pathanamthitta district.

⁴⁷ Initially it was 51 families. Later on one more family was included (December 2015) as they claimed that land allotted to them in Devikulam was not inhabitable, thereby raising total number of families to 52.

⁴⁸ Sy. Nos. 3851/3-1, 3852/5-1, 2926/1-2, 3851/3-2, 2926/1-1

• Rules⁴⁹ state that the assignee shall reside in the land if it is granted as house site and such residence shall commence effectively within a period of one year from the date of receipt of *patta*. Audit conducted a joint physical verification (August 2022) of the land given to 18 families (Malamariyal Ambedkar Colony) in Thennur village of Nedumangad taluk along with Revenue authorities. It was observed that out of 18 families who were assigned 22 cents of land each in Thennur village during 2018, only seven families were staying there permanently and the remaining 11 were not residing there as it was informed that they owned land elsewhere. The residents also informed that the place was not cultivatable as they had to face frequent attacks from wild animals.

The decision to allot land to beneficiaries who were already in possession of land elsewhere under rehabilitation package lacked prudence. Tahsildar, Nedumangad replied (September 2022) that there existed no mechanism with Revenue Department to ensure whether the assignee owns any other land while granting registry. The CLR replied (November 2022) that the beneficiaries were selected after detailed enquiry and verification by the authorities. Reply was not tenable as it came to the notice of Audit that all the assignees were not residing there and it was stated that those not residing there owned land elsewhere. Further, it is evident from the fact that the inhabitants could not do cultivation in the assigned land due to the attack of wild animals, the land purchased by Government paying ₹1.56 crore for rehabilitating 18 families in 2018 was without ensuring whether the land was safely habitable/ assignable.

• In response to a direction (May 2014) from the CLR to report the area of assignable revenue land under Nedumangad taluk, the Tahsildar reported (May 2014) 127.26 acres of land at Ponmudi in Thennur village (Sy. No. 3994/1, 3994/2) demarcated as 'purayidam⁵⁰' and 'tharissu⁵¹'. Though Government land was available as early as in 2014 for assignment, Government initiated action (2015) to purchase four acres of private land at exorbitant rates. The verification of the purchase records of four acres of land revealed that the owner of the land had purchased the entire land of four acres in May and June 2015 for ₹33.26 lakh⁵². This was sold to Government in 2018 for ₹1.56 crore⁵³, i.e., after effecting a hike of 468 per cent in just three years. The District Level Purchase Committee had already accepted the rate of ₹39,000 per cent

51 Government land that can be cultivated and that can be assigned

52 Survey No.	Document No.	Date of registration	Area (in cent)	Amount paid (₹ in lakh)
3851/3852	551	04.05.2015	199.99	15.83
2926/1	741	15.06.2015	183.00	15.83
2926/1	742	15.06.2015	16.99	1.60
	Total		399.98	33.26

 $^{^{53}}$ ₹39,000 per cent x 4 acres = ₹1.56 crore

⁴⁹ Rule 8(2) of KLAR

⁵⁰ Dry land

submitted by the owner during their meeting held on 28 December 2015 itself, i.e., just seven months after purchase.

The CLR replied (November 2022) that the Forest department raised objection against the assignment of 179.87 acres of land in Kummil Reserve in Pangodu village in Nedumangad taluk. CLR further stated that as no other habitable land was available, Government decided to purchase land from the private party and that the price was accepted by the State Level Empowered Committee. The reply was not acceptable as Audit was referring to another 127.26 acres of land identified at Ponmudi in Thennur village, which was already demarcated as 'tharissu' land as per revenue records, that could have been assigned by the Revenue Department. Moreover, the approval for purchase of land with a value appreciation of 468 per cent within just seven months from the date of purchase by the seller was against all canons of propriety. Instead of spending ₹1.56 crore on purchase of fresh land, Government could have assigned the 'tharissu' land in Thennur village.

The above indicates lack of due diligence on the part of the Revenue authorities in purchase of land without ensuring habitability as well as in assigning land in excess of prescribed limits.

Assignments on lease

Government lands that are not immediately required for public purposes could be assigned on lease for temporary purposes to individuals/ institutions for commercial as well as for non-commercial purposes. However, as pointed out in paragraph 2.1.6 of this Report, a list of lands required for Government or public purposes were not prepared in the selected offices and hence none of the 23 assignments on lease during 2017-18 to 2021-22 were from an approved list. Audit noticed various systemic issues as well as individual issues relating to assignments on lease. These include continuance of leases under erstwhile rules, non-remittance of rent, non-compliance of various rule provisions relating to lease of Government land, etc. These are enumerated below.

Systemic issues

2.1.16. Irregular continuance of leases under erstwhile rules

The introduction of the new rules and orders would necessitate a review of the existing leases and pursuance to ensure that they are covered under extant rules. While the RALMCA, which was introduced with effect from 11 November 1995 contains provisions for renewal of existing leases, KLAR does not contain any provision for renewal of existing leases from the date of introduction (March 1964). However, Government issued directions to revise or renew all leases in accordance with KLAR.

Audit observed that as of March 2022, out of 584 leases coming under Corporation/ Municipality areas in the selected districts, 445 leases have not

been brought over to the revised Rules (RALMCA). These cases have neither been renewed nor lease rent fixed/ collected. Similarly, as of March 2022, out of 442 leases granted in rural areas in 11 test-checked taluks, 356 leases were not renewed nor lease rent fixed/ collected as per KLAR. These lessees are still possessing the Government land leased out to them (**Appendix 2.4**).

This led to illegitimate occupation of land that could otherwise have been used for Government or public purposes. Moreover, as lease of land is intended for temporary purposes, occupation for long periods without adhering to the provisions in the extant rules is against the spirit of laws made in this regard. In view of the above negligence and complicity of the authorities concerned, Government should take strict action against them.

2.1.17. Illegal occupation of Government land

Government lands can be assigned only as per the provisions contained in the Act and the forms/ agreement authorising its occupation are appended to the Rules. Audit noticed that though Government issued orders for leasing Government land, the following three out of 141 leases test-checked in the selected districts did not execute an agreement and hence the land was illegally occupied.

Survey/ Month and year Sl. Area Name of occupier Taluk Resurvey of Government No. occupied No. order Muslim Jamaat, Nedumangad 153/4 68.60 ares January 2012 Kanjiramoodu Munavirul Islam Block No. Madrassa. Kanayannur 80.40 ares 6 - 280/1Thrikkakkara North September 2014 Sree Subramanya Block No. Swami Kshethram. 36.75 ares 3 Kanayannur 6 - 265/1Thrikkakkara North

Table 2.1: Details of illegal occupation

(Source: Records of Taluk Offices Nedumangad and Kanayannur)

Audit noticed that trees were removed from the Government land illegally occupied by Munavirul Islam Madrassa and Sree Subramanya Swamy Kshethram at Thrikkakkara North village.

Tahsildar, Kanayannur replied (October 2022) that an enquiry was conducted through VO and it was found that a madrassa hall was built in the property after 2011 and the trees might have been cut down for the construction.

The CLR replied (November 2022) that the Jamaat has not signed the agreement and the matter has been reported to the Government to inform steps to be taken in this regard and in respect of the others, the CLR replied (November 2022) that directions were given to the DC to take necessary action.

Occupation of Government land without executing agreement by the assigning authority with the occupant tantamount to illegal occupation.

2.1.18. Irregular assignment of non-assignable land

Honorable High Court of Kerala through various judgements⁵⁴ have pronounced that *puzha puramboke*⁵⁵ lands cannot be given out on assignment.

• Sanction was accorded (April 2010) to lease out 15 cents of land (Sy. No. 843) in Ernakulam village of Kanayannur taluk to T.K. Ramakrishnan Samskarika Kendram for a period of 30 years for constructing its head office. Accordingly, a lease deed was executed by the DC, Ernakulam with the lessee on 27 July 2010.

Scrutiny of the records maintained at Village Office, Ernakulam revealed that 15 cents of land leased out to T.K.Ramakrishnan Samskarika Kendram was *puzha puramboke*. The CLR replied that Government had exercised its discretionary power by invoking special provisions under Rule 21(ii) of RALMCA, to transfer the leasehold land on a nominal lease of 30 years for construction of the cultural centre.

Reply furnished by the CLR was not acceptable as it was silent about assignment of *puzha puramboke* land.

• Sixty-four cents of *puzha puramboke* land (Sy. No. 418/1) in Muvattupuzha village was leased out to an individual on *kuthakappattom* lease. This was illegally transferred (1987) to Franciscan Clarist Congregation of Nuns. The VO, Muvattupuzha started collecting lease rent from the congregation instead of from the actual lessee from 1989 onwards. Later, Government accorded sanction (2018) for leasing out this land for 10 years to them at a lease rent of two *per cent* of the market rate.

As the Hon'ble High Court of Kerala has reiterated through various judgements that *puzha puramboke* lands cannot be given out on assignment, assignment of *puzha puramboke* was not in order. Further, absence of any provisions in the Rules/ Acts prohibiting assignment of *puzha puramboke* lands would result in assignment of more such land with consequential detrimental effect on the ecology of the State.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), ACS stated that in cases where the Hon'ble High Court has explicitly stated that *puzha puramboke* cannot be assigned, then Government would have a relook into it. The reply was not tenable as Hon'ble High Court had averred in several judgements that *puzha puramboke* cannot be assigned. Further, activities in *puzha puramboke* would result in serious ecological problems including degradation of water bodies.

-

⁵⁴ Judgements 17233 of 1996, 16077/1996

⁵⁵ River banks

2.1.19. Irregular assignment on registry/ renewal of lease by a non-competent authority

The GoK, through orders⁵⁶ issued in May and July 2011 reiterated that the authority competent for renewing lease to institutions was GoK. Note 1 under Rule 6(2) of the KLAR provides that the competent authority to assign land on registry for beneficial enjoyment shall be the RDO and the assignment order shall be passed only after personally satisfying himself that the land is absolutely necessary for the purpose. However, during 2017-22, Audit noticed that in the following cases, the assignment on lease/ registry was renewed/ granted by a non-competent authority.

Table 2.2: Irregular assignment on registry/ renewal of lease by non-competent authorities

Sl. No.	Name of taluk	Lease/ Registry	Lease/ Registry No.	Nature of lessee	Area (In Ares)	Rules applicable	Authority competent to execute/ renew lease/ assignment on registry	Authority which executed the lease/ Authority which assigned the land	Purpose for which land was assigned
1	Aluva	Lease	KP-959/73	Institution	9.90	KLAR	GoK	Additional Tahsildar	Temple functioning in the premises
2	Devikulam	Registry	LA 02/2021	Individual	18.01	KLAR	RDO	Tahsildar	Beneficial enjoyment
3	Devikulam	Registry	LA 07/2021	Individual	5.95	KLAR	RDO	Tahsildar	Beneficial enjoyment
4	Devikulam	Registry	LA 08/2021	Individual	20.40	KLAR	RDO	Tahsildar	Beneficial enjoyment

(Source: Records of Taluk Offices at Aluva and Devikulam)

During Exit Conference, CLR stated (January 2023) that the matter would be examined.

Audit noticed that in 1999, a Deputy Tahsildar of Devikulam taluk in Idukki district had overstepped his authority and issued registries irregularly. Subsequently, Government had to cancel those irregular registries⁵⁷. Despite such a precedence, Government failed to take effective measures to ensure that leases are granted only by the competent authorities.

2.1.20. Unauthorised possession of land due to laxity in taking action by Government/ Revenue authorities

As per the land assignment rules in force, Government land can be assigned either through registry or lease or licence and the lease rent should be fixed based on the market value of lands at rates specified by Government from time

⁵⁶ G.O (Ms) No.174/2011/RD dated 02 May 2011 and G.O (Ms) No. 280/2011/RD dated 27 July 2011

Over 530 assignments were irregularly granted by the Deputy Tahsildar. The process of rectifying the mistakes are in progress.

to time. Audit noticed that as of March 2022, 401 assignment cases forwarded from the four selected districts were pending decision from Government. Delay in taking decision by the Government has led to loss of revenue and illegal possession of Government land. Instances noticed by Audit where delay on the part of Government led to loss of revenue are detailed below.

2.1.20.1. M/s Poabs Granites

An area of 0.29 acres (11.82 ares) of land in Peroorkada village (Vattiyoorkavu panchayat) was leased out (August 2003) to M/s Poabs Granites for construction of a road in the *puramboke* land adjacent to the land possessed by M/s Poabs Granites. Annual lease rent was fixed at ₹28,677 and the same was remitted by the lessee for three years. The lessee submitted (February 2006) a representation to the Tahsildar stating that M/s Poabs Granites was functioning in Panchayat area, but the lease rent was fixed in accordance with rules applicable for Municipal/ Corporation areas. As the authority to sanction institutional leases is the Government, the Tahsildar, Thiruvananthapuram informed (October 2006) the DC that the lease rent applicable to the utilisation of land for the above said purpose was to be fixed by the Government. The matter was referred to Government (April 2007) by the DC and even though reminders were issued (October 2007 and February 2010), no direction was received from Government till date (September 2022).

Audit observes that the matter was pending with Government since April 2007 and though reminders were sent, no action was seen taken to fix the lease rent. Audit noticed (September 2022) that the land was being utilised without renewing the lease agreement and remitting the lease rent as applicable from time to time, and hence the land was under unauthorised possession of lessee.

2.1.20.2. Rifle Club, Kozhikode

In January 1994, the lease agreement for 1.03 acres of land in Nellikode village which was on lease with Rifle Club from 1973 onwards was renewed for another 10 years at the rate of ₹1,000 per acre per annum with effect from April 1993. Out of this, 26.61 cents of land was taken back (June 2004) by Government and the lease rent applicable to Rifle Club was refixed at ₹767 per annum with effect from June 2004. Though a proposal to revise the lease rent was sent (December 2008) to CLR by DC, Kozhikode the CLR approved to refix the rent only on 09 August 2018, i.e., after a lapse of 14 years. Accordingly, DC served (September 2018) a demand notice of ₹72.88 lakh for the period from 01 April 1994 to 31 March 2019 to the Rifle Club. Aggrieved by this demand notice, the Club filed (October 2018) an appeal and CLR directed (February 2019) the DC to provide sufficient opportunity to present the grievances of Club. Accordingly, DC heard the Secretary (June 2019) and recommended (August 2019) CLR for seeking approval to grant relaxation in lease rent considering its excellent performance and poor financial situation. However, orders from Government is still awaited (August 2022). The Club remitted the lease rent (₹0.12 lakh) upto 2016-17 at rates fixed as early in 1994.

Audit observes that delay in taking action by CLR/ Government has resulted in non-renewal of lease rent and consequent loss of revenue to Government.

2.1.20.3. Steel Industrials Kerala Limited, Kozhikode

5.53 acres of land belonging to Ports department were transferred to Revenue department and was leased out (October 1979) for 10 years to Steel Industrials Kerala Limited (SILK) for establishing a ship-breaking unit. As the land occupied by the SILK was required by the Ports Department for further development, the Ports Department requested the DC, Kozhikode (December 1993) to initiate eviction process against SILK. As directed by DC, Tahsildar, Kozhikode issued (December 1998) a demand notice to SILK for ₹99.82 lakh as lease rent arrears for the period 1979 to 1998, but SILK did not remit the amount. Revenue recovery (RR) procedure was initiated against SILK by the DC (December 1999), which was appealed before GoK. GoK (February 2000) issued orders to stay the RR procedure until the lease rent was fixed by GoK. Though reminders were sent by DC⁵⁸ to GoK through CLR requesting to take action at the Government level to remove the stay and to fix the lease rent, no action was seen taken in this regard by the Government. The DC worked out the rent arrears for the period from 26 December 1979 to 31 March 2019 amounting to ₹5.98 crore and the demand notice was served to SILK (27 February 2019), but no amount was remitted till date. Audit noticed that inaction on the part of Government to remove the stay order issued as early as in 2000 has led to nonreceipt of ₹5.98 crore (as of 2019) to the exchequer and unauthorised possession of 5.53 acres of Government land by SILK.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), CLR stated that action in this regard was underway.

2.1.20.4. Cochin Club

Government renewed (May 1986) the lease of Cochin Club, Kochi in respect of an extent of 4.44.22 acres of land in Fort Kochi village for a period of 20 years with effect from July 1983 at one *per cent* of land value of ₹15,600 per cent per annum, (₹69,264) and lease rent was to be revised every five years on the basis of prevailing land value. However, lease rent was renewed as per this order only once i.e., from July 1983 to June 1988.

The Cochin Club being a commercial institution⁵⁹, Tahsildar, Kochi calculated arrears of lease rent as on 03 February 2020 at the rate of five *per cent* of market value plus GST after deducting the amounts already remitted by the Club, and it worked out to ₹56.99 crore⁶⁰. The DC referred the matter for further orders to CLR and Government (February 2020). However, no direction was given by the

⁵⁸ 09.06.2014, 13.03.2015, 27.11.2017, 26.12.2017, 21.11.2018 and 29.07.2019

⁵⁹ Club rents halls for marriages, film shooting, etc., besides providing facilities like squash court, badminton court, etc., for its members.

⁶⁰ Total lease rent arrears from 13.11.1995 to 31.03.2020 - ₹48,66,40,110 Lease rent already remitted by Cochin Club - ₹36,88,392 Balance to be remitted - ₹48,29,51,718 GST 18 per cent - ₹8,69,31,309 Total Lease Rent Arrears as on 03.02.2020 - ₹56,98,83,027

higher authorities in the matter even after two and a half years resulting in unauthorised occupation of land and non-receipt of lease rent.

2.1.21. Non-registration of leases

Provisions⁶¹ of the Registration Act, 1908 requires all leases of immovable property exceeding one year be registered compulsorily. However, no action was seen taken by the GoK to enforce this statutory requirement and thus put in place a mechanism for checking potential illegal sale of Government land under lease. Had the original lease been registered as per the provisions of the Registration Act, illegal transfer of leased land could have been avoided. Further, Kerala Stamp Act, 1959 provides for the remittance of stamp duty and fees that is to be payable for leases. As earlier mentioned, there were 584 lease cases coming under Corporation/Municipality areas in the selected districts and 442 cases under Panchayat areas in 11 test-checked taluks. Out of these, Audit test-checked 141 lease cases. In none of the files test-checked, Audit could find records in support of leases being registered as required under the law. The annual lease rates for areas coming under the KLAR (for Panchayat areas) and that coming under RALMCA (for Municipal/ Corporation areas) have been specified through various orders issued by the GoK from time to time. As the lease rates are fixed as a percentage of the market value of the land, the GoK is at a huge loss by not collecting the stamp duty and registration fees. Moreover, as per RALMCA, leases are to be granted for three years and as per KLAR it varies from two to 10 years.

Compliance issues

2.1.22. Non-remittance of lease rent and consequent unauthorised occupation of leased land

The period for which lease can be granted and lease rents to be charged are specified in the rules and various Government orders. Audit noticed huge arrears of lease rent pending collection and illegal occupation of land by not periodically renewing the leases and by not remitting the lease rent, as shown below.

- Lease rents are to be collected annually and as per the data furnished by the DCs, as of March 2022, lease rent amounting to ₹338.85 crore covering an area of 635.235 Ha was pending collection in the selected districts. However, Audit could not confirm the correctness of the figures furnished by the DCs. During Exit Conference, the CLR stated (January 2023) that the data relating to assignments available with them requires updation and exercise for that is underway.
- The rates for fixing lease rent of land under RALMCA, 1995 have been prescribed under Rule 12(5) and it is fixed as a percentage of the market value of the land depending on the purpose of lessee. Note (iv) to this

-

⁶¹ Rule 17 (d)

states that the lease rent for the year shall be payable by the lessee within the first quarter of the financial year and that the defaulters would be charged a penal interest of two *per cent* over and above the rates prescribed. Rules⁶² stipulate that the lease granted shall be for a period not exceeding three years and the period of renewed lease shall not exceed three years in urban areas. However, Audit noticed that only four out of 584 lease cases (in Municipal/ Corporation areas) in the selected districts were renewed every three years. Owing to non-renewal, the leased land was unauthorisedly occupied. Eleven cases noticed by Audit where lease rent pending amounted to ₹254.14 crore is given in **Appendix 2.5**.

• As per the provisions contained in the KLAR, the period of lease as specified under Rule 14 varies from two to 10 years and Rule 18 specifies that rents should be charged for lease at such rates as specified by the Government. The rent for lease granted under KLAR was fixed by Government in 1975 and revised in 1985 and 2016. Further, Rules⁶³ state that if the lessees fail to settle their lease rent arrears as prescribed, the DCs should resume such property after following the prescribed procedure. Government issued orders (2018⁶⁴) that leases under KLAR need to be renewed every three years.

However, Audit noticed that out of 442 lease cases (in Panchayat areas) in the selected 11 taluks, details such as the date of assignment, period of lease, etc., were not available in 351 cases. In the remaining 91 lease cases, as against the prescribed period of two to 10 years, lease was granted for periods ranging upto 30 years in 12 cases. Of these, in 43 cases, leases were not renewed/ revised after the prescribed period as required in the rules or in accordance with the order issued in 2018.

Audit observed that the lessees continued to occupy the land even though leases were not renewed, and lease rents were not collected resulting in accumulation of huge arrears. However, no action was taken either to resume the land or initiate revenue recovery proceedings. This led to unauthorised occupation of Government land thereby indicating negligence on the part of the authorities concerned for which action should be taken against them.

Though this was pointed out in the Report No. 6 of the year 2014 of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, the pendency in remittance of lease rent still persists⁶⁵.

During Exit Conference, the Government admitted (January 2023) flaws in maintenance of details of leases and stated that the exercise for rectification is underway.

⁶² Rule 12(4) of RALMCA

⁶³ Rule 18(3)(ii) of KLAR

⁶⁴ GO (Rt) No. 276/2018/Rev dated 03 August 2018

⁶⁵ Though the Report was discussed by the PAC, recommendations are awaited (January 2023)

2.1.23. Alienation/illegal possession of leased land

As per Rule 26(b)(i) of Kuthakapattom⁶⁶ Rules, 1947, the lease holder shall not alienate the lease without obtaining prior sanction from the authority who granted the lease. After the introduction of KLAR, Government issued various orders directing that all *kuthakapattom* leases which were in force prior to the formulation of KLAR, be revised as per KLAR. As per Rule 15(2) of the KLAR, lease or licence granted under these Rules shall be heritable but not alienable and as per Rule 15(4) the grant shall be liable to termination, if the assignee violates any of the conditions of the grant order.

In the following cases in Arakkuzha village under Muvattupuzha taluk, Audit noticed that the land leased out during the Kuthakapattom Rules period were under the possession of persons other than the original lessee or their legal heirs.

Kuthakapattom Area illegally SI. Land in Survey lease agreement Area of land possessed by No. No. No. third party 131/1A1 111/63 50 cents 50 cents 2. 131/1A 44/124 66 cents 50 cents 3/50 3. 877/1 61.50 cents 50 cents 131/1A 18/124 257 cents 47 cents

Table 2.3: Details of transfer of leased land

(Source: Records of Arakkuzha village)

Audit noticed that the VO had already reported (2016 and 2017) the fact that the land was in the possession of a third party in all these cases.

The Tahsildar, Muvattupuzha stated (July 2022) that, it was found that the leased lands were not in the possession of original lessee and that the *kuthakapattom* lease land came into possession of the present occupants/ third party through illegal means and it has no legal authority.

The CLR accepted (November 2022) the observation and stated that direction was given to DC to reoccupy the land urgently.

Audit observed that the lease rents were not fixed as per KLAR. Further, though illegal possession was known to the Revenue authorities as early as in 2016, no action was taken to resume the land as per Rules.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), CLR stated that the matter would be examined.

2.1.24. Non-resumption of land required for public purpose

Rules⁶⁷ state that lands which are likely to be required in future for Government or public purposes, but not immediately, may be leased out for any temporary

Kuthakapattom means and includes lease of puramboke and other government land and trees standing on Government land

⁶⁷ Rule 12(1) and Rule 16 of RALMCA

purposes and extension of lease shall be made only if the assigning authority is satisfied that the land is not required for any public purpose.

As stated in paragraph 2.1.20.3 of this Report, an area of 5.53 acres of land in Beypore village in Kozhikode taluk belonging to Ports Department was leased out to SILK by the Revenue Department for a 10-year period. As the land occupied by the SILK was needed to develop the existing port, the Ports Department requested (December 1993) the DC, Kozhikode to return the land. However, the land was not resumed and returned to the Ports Department by the Revenue Department. A joint verification conducted (July 2022) by Audit along with the Revenue authorities revealed that no activities were being conducted by SILK in the leased land.

Non-resumption of leased land by Revenue authorities when required for public purpose is against the interests of the State and a violation of the Act and Rules.

During Exit Conference, CLR stated (January 2023) that the matter would be examined.

Assignment on licence

Licence can be issued for usage of playgrounds, putting up of pandals or sheds, for entertainments or cinemas, etc. Both KLAR and RALMCA had no provision for assigning land on licence basis. Government had issued⁶⁸ orders specifying licence rates on a daily basis. In January 2016, Government issued a notification⁶⁹ stating that all cases of ground rent and licence within the State and coming under RALMCA would henceforth be treated as lease rent.

While there existed rules⁷⁰ specifying rates for leases to co-operative societies, Audit noticed a case of land issued to a co-operative society in a prime location in Thiruvananthapuram city on licence since 2008 as detailed below.

2.1.25. Irregular assignment on licence

Government directed (May 2000) that an extent of 18.750 cents of land⁷¹ be handed over to KERAFED⁷² on advance possession for construction of their headquarters complex. In December 2004, Principal Secretary, Revenue Department directed the DC to levy the lease rent from KERAFED in accordance with the rates notified⁷³ by Government. The Chairman, KERAFED informed (June 2007) that they were not in a position to remit the lease rent. Subsequently, Government issued orders (May 2008) to assign the land to KERAFED on licence basis at the rate of ₹5,000 per cent per annum for the

⁶⁸ GO (Ms) 1028/85/RD dated 19.12.1985

⁶⁹ Inserted by notification GO (P) No. 64/2016/RD dated 28.01.2016 as note (ii) below Rule 12(5).

⁷⁰ Rule 12 of RALMCA

⁷¹ in Sy. No.90/1 of Thycaud village (a prime location in Thiruvananthapuram Corporation)

⁷² Kera Karshaka Sahakarana Federation – A Co-operative society under GoK

⁷³ GO (P) 126/04/RD dated 14 May 2004

construction of their headquarters complex on the condition that the licence be renewed every three years.

Since RALMCA, 1995 had not specified the rates or period of assignment on licence, the criteria adopted by Government for assigning land in a prime location by fixing the licence fee at ₹5,000 per cent per annum which was much lower to prevailing lease rates was against the interests of the exchequer. Moreover, the Department did not realise any rent from KERAFED for the period 12 May 2000 to 29 May 2008. Besides, the assessee was liable to pay a lease rent at two per cent of the market value of the land per annum with effect from the date of notification issued in January 2016 which was not done.

In the Exit Conference, ACS agreed to (January 2023) the audit finding that land should not have been granted on licence and informed that steps would be taken to convert this into lease.

Non-realisation of revenue

Audit made an attempt to check whether the revenue due to Government was assessed and collected properly. However, it was observed that Government was not maintaining a reliable and exhaustive data on land leased out or lease rent due and collected. In the Exit Conference (January 2023) conducted to discuss the audit findings, it was admitted by the department that there were lacunae in this regard and they are in the process of streamlining these. In the absence of such data, Audit was unable to quantify the exact loss to exchequer on account of non-collection of lease rent from beneficiaries. Findings relating to non-collection of security deposit, waiver of lease rent, etc., noticed by Audit are given below.

2.1.26. Non-deposit of one year's rent as security

As per Rule 18(2) of KLAR, the assignee has to deposit with the Government in advance an amount equal to one year's rent as security in addition to paying rent at such rates as specified by Government. However, Audit noticed that in 10⁷⁴ out of 11 selected taluks, one year's rent as security in advance was not deposited with Government. Of the 10 taluks, in Muvattupuzha taluk and Udumbanchola taluk, security deposit was collected in certain cases⁷⁵. However, the lessees took possession of the land on lease. Audit observed that security deposit totalling to ₹4.93 lakh was not collected in the seven lease cases⁷⁶ granted under KLAR during the audit period in the selected taluks.

No lease cases in Idukki taluk.

⁷⁵ Muvattupuzha taluk - not collected in 25 out of 27 leases under KLAR. Udumbanchola taluk, - not collected in 14 out of 21 cases.

Total number of leases sanctioned during the audit period was 23 of which 16 were granted under RALMCA.

2.1.27. Waiver of lease rent by Government - loss of ₹29 crore to the exchequer

RALMCA describes the procedures and period⁷⁷ for leasing of Government land and prescribes that the annual lease rent should be fixed on the basis of market value of land. The lease is to be renewed every three years and the rates for lease are as notified by the Government from time to time. The assignee is bound to pay lease rent during the period of lease and shall be payable by the lessee within the first quarter of the financial year and that the defaulters would be charged a penal interest of two *per cent* over and above the rates prescribed. Rule 20 of RALMCA states that all amounts due to Government under that rules should, in case of default, be recoverable, as if they were arrears of revenue due on land under the Revenue Recovery Act for the time being in force.

Government land was leased out to the institutions mentioned in **Table 2.4** and they were bound to pay annual lease rent to the Government. It was seen that these institutions neither renewed the lease as required nor paid lease rent and this accumulated to huge amount as arrears. But, instead of recovering the amount as required under Rules, Government accorded (March 2016) sanction for renewal of lease on land in respect of these institutions by realising 0.2 *per cent* of the outstanding lease rent arrears and at an annual lease rent at five *per cent* of the current market value for 30 years subject to the condition that lease rent should be renewed once in three years. The details are shown in the table below.

Table 2.4: Details of lease rent waived by Government

Name of Lessee (Institution)- area of land (village)	Lease rent arrears as on 03.03.2016 (₹)	Lease rent to be paid based on the order dated 03.03.2016 (₹)	Amount of loss to	Government Order No.
Trivandrum Tennis Club - 4 acres and 7 cents (Sasthamangalam village)	11,09,10,955	2,21,822	11,06,89,133	GO (Ms) No. 229/2016/Rev dated 03.03.2016
Mannam Memorial National Club - 1 acre 1 cent (Vanchiyoor village)	18,40,78,001	3,68,156	18,37,09,845	GO (Ms) No. 231/2016/Rev dated 03.03.2016
Total	29,49,88,956	5,89,978	29,43,98,978	

(Source: Data received from the District Collectorate, Thiruvananthapuram)

Though the TTC remitted ₹2.22 lakh, the Club continues (November 2022) to occupy the land without renewing lease every three years. Mannam Memorial National Club⁷⁸ did not remit any amount yet continued to occupy the land without renewal of lease.

Audit noticed that by reducing the arrears of lease rent to ₹0.06 crore from ₹29.50 crore, the exchequer had to suffer a loss of ₹29.44 crore.

.

⁷⁷ Not exceeding three years

Activities carried out by Mannam Memorial Club were recreational activities, running of gymnasium, renting out halls, etc.

In the Exit Conference, ACS stated (January 2023) that the lease rent was reduced invoking the special powers of Government. However, reduction of lease rent need to be seen in the context of the commercial activities of the Clubs which generate revenue.

2.1.28. Defective calculation of lease rent

GoK leased out (January 1961) 54 cents⁷⁹ of land to the Women's Club, Thiruvananthapuram. A demand notice of ₹51.30 lakh for the period from April 1996 to March 2007 was issued (April 2007) by the DC, against which the Club filed (August 2007) an appeal for stay. The CLR allowed (September 2007) the request for stay which was subsequently vacated in December 2009. Demand notices for the periods up to 31 March 2010 (₹73.58 lakh) and 31 October 2014 amounting to ₹141.24 lakh were issued in May 2010 and November 2014 respectively by the DC. However, no lease rent was remitted by the Club.

Against the demand notice issued in November 2014, the Club approached the Hon'ble High Court and the Court ordered (August 2015) an interim stay on further proceedings on the condition that the petitioner remit ₹ five lakh within a period of two weeks. The petitioner remitted the amount in September 2015. Though demand notices were issued thereafter (25 February 2020, 24 June 2022), no remittances have been made by the Club so far. Audit noticed that the stay has not been vacated till date (November 2022). On this being pointed out the DC replied that the matter of stay order came to their notice only during July 2022.

On a scrutiny of the lease rent calculation made, Audit noticed that in the demand notice issued in April 2007 for ₹51.30 lakh, lease rent due for the period from April 1997 to March 1998 amounting to ₹21.60 lakh was not reckoned for calculation. It was also noticed that during the period 14 November 1995 to 31 March 2004, the rates for lease rent was taken as 10 *per cent* instead of 20 *per cent* as was applicable for commercial institutions. Audit found that this had an impact on further demand notices and in the demand notice issued in November 2014 on the basis of which Hon'ble High Court pronounced their judgement, the lease rent arrears for the period from 14 November 1995 to 31 March 2014 was mistakenly⁸⁰ calculated as ₹141.24 lakh instead of ₹174.23 lakh resulting in a short demand of ₹32.99 lakh. Details are shown in the **Appendix 2.6**.

The CLR replied (September 2022) that they had not initiated any action to vacate the interim stay issued by the Hon'ble High Court in August 2015 as they were not aware of it and accepted that the omission of not reckoning ₹21.60 lakh was a clerical mistake. Regarding application of rate of lease rent at 20 *per cent* of the market value for the calculation upto the period 31 March 2004, CLR replied that it was computed at the rate of 10 *per cent* as applicable for non-commercial purpose as per RALMCA.

⁷⁹ In Sy. No. 208, 212, 213 and 214 of Anchamada village (now Sasthamangalam village)

For the period 13.11.1995 to 31.03.2004, the rate of lease rent was taken as 10 *per cent* instead of 20 *per cent*.

Reply was not acceptable as the Tahsildar in his statement of facts on the appeal against the demand notice for the period upto March 2007 had reported that the land was being used for commercial purposes. During a joint verification (September 2022) along with the Revenue authorities, Audit noticed that the Club is still continuing commercial activities. However, no action was seen taken by the authorities against violation of rules.

Thus, mistakes in calculation of lease rent resulted in short demand of ₹32.99 lakh as of March 2014. Audit observed that the authorities, who were also a party in the case were not aware of the court stay and hence no action was taken for vacating it. This resulted in blocking up of revenue due to the Government. Government should initiate action against officials who are responsible for causing monetary loss to Government.

Monitoring

No provisions have been incorporated in KLAR or RALMCA for monitoring the assignments already made. Audit noticed instances of assigned land being used for other purposes highlighting the requirement for an effective monitoring mechanism. Further, deficiencies noticed by Audit in the internal regulatory mechanism, such as shortage of leased land, non-implementation of PAC recommendations, non-conduct of periodical inspections, non-maintenance of registers, etc., are detailed below.

2.1.29. Shortage/ loss of leased land

Audit noticed that in three cases, there was loss/ shortage of Government land originally leased out. However, no action was seen taken by the Government in this regard. Instances noticed are as below.

An extent of 17.092 cents of Government land in Survey No. 2699, 2704 and 2707 of Thycaud village in Thiruvananthapuram taluk was leased out to the Proprietor, City Theatres, Thiruvananthapuram in 1948 for the purpose of using it as car parking area in front of Sreekumar theatre. The lease was renewed only upto 1978 (till the death of the proprietor) and continued in possession and enjoyment of his legal heirs without renewal of the lease (January 2023).

In 2006, nine cents of land was resumed⁸¹ for road widening and the remaining 8.092 cents continued to be in the possession of M/s City Theatres. Audit noticed that after resurvey (Resurvey No. 49 in Block No. 113) in 2008, the leased land of 8.092 cents was seen recorded in the revenue records in the name of the son of original lessee. It was also noticed that a *thandaper* number⁸² (TP 8787) was allotted to this land in his name and he was remitting land tax since 2008.

_

⁸¹ GO (Rt) 2411/06/RD dated 04 April 2006

Reference number used by the Revenue Department of Kerala to track property tax information linked to the land.

Other two instances are given in table below.

Table 2.5: Instances of shortage/loss of land

Sl. No.	Name of lessee	Survey No.	Area originally leased out	Year of leasing out	Land resumed by Govt. for other purposes	Balance to be with the lessee	Area now under possession of lessee	Shortage/ loss
1	Kerala Tourism Development	404	13.12.250	1972	NIL		12.9365	0.186
	Corporation (Bolgatty Palace)		acres		acres	acres	acres	
2	Fort High School,	560/3	1.48 acres	1904	0.54	0.94	0.699	0.241
2	Thiruvananthapuram	300/3	1.46 acres	1704	acres	acres	acres	acres

(Source: Records of Taluk Offices at Ernakulam and Thiruvananthapuram)

In the case of Fort High School, the CLR replied (November 2022) that a report has been submitted to the Government recommending the cancellation of lease and to reclaim the leased land. Though a report was submitted in 2014 by the DC for cancellation of lease and reclaim the land, no action was taken. In the case of City Theatres, CLR replied (January 2023) that the thandaper was given to the lessee due to a clerical mistake that occurred in the resurvey process. During Exit Conference (January 2023) CLR stated that procedure to examine the difference in extent of land was already underway.

2.1.30. Alienation and utilisation of assigned land for non-assigned purposes

The GoK enacted the Act in 1960 to regulate the assignment of land in Kerala. The rules made thereunder specifies that Government lands can be assigned only for the purpose of house sites, cultivation, beneficial enjoyment or for commercial purposes. The area that can be assigned is also specified and it varies from three cents for house sites to three acres for cultivation. The Government in 2011⁸³ stated that land for housing was to be given only for the landless. Using such assigned lands for other purposes such as mining is against the spirit and intention of the Act.

Rules⁸⁴ stipulate that unoccupied lands assigned on registry shall be heritable but not alienable for a period of 12/ three⁸⁵ years from the date of assignment on registry and require the assignee to personally cultivate the same if it is granted for cultivation. It again specifies that the registry shall be liable to be cancelled for contraventions of provisions in Rules.

Instance of alienation and utilisation of land for other purpose are detailed below:

⁸³ GO (Ms) 280/2011/RD dated 27 July 2011

⁸⁴ Rule 8 of KLAR

Restriction of three years was applicable during 1971 to 2009.

2.1.30.1. Utilisation for unauthorised purpose by M/s Poabs Granites

The Tahsildar, Thiruvananthapuram granted (March 1994) 3.50 acres ⁸⁶ of land in Aayiravalli Mala of Peroorkada village ⁸⁷ as eight land assignment ⁸⁸ cases. The purpose of registry, i.e., whether it was for cultivation/ house site/ beneficial enjoyment was not ascertainable from the assignment order. The Revenue authorities had no documentary proof to substantiate whether the *patta* was issued on occupied land or unoccupied land. However, Audit concluded that the land was unoccupied land on the basis that the land tax realised ⁸⁹ was only for one year. After two and a half months from the date of assignment (March 1994), this 3.50 acres of assigned land was sold ⁹⁰ (June 1994) to M/s Poabs Granites and the same was used for mining ⁹¹ activities instead of cultivation/ house site/ beneficial enjoyment. Though this came to the notice of Revenue authorities in the form of a complaint and even though an enquiry was conducted by the Additional Tahsildar, the land was not resumed.

2.1.30.2. Misuse of assigned land

As per Rules⁹², Government land leased out for cultivation of cardamom shall not be used for other purposes. Instances of misuse of assigned land including a case of land leased out for cardamom cultivation being used for other purposes are given in **Appendix 2.7**.

In the issue indicated under item 3 of **Appendix 2.7** for instance, sale of land (assigned originally for cardamom cultivation) was registered⁹³ by heirs of the original assignee in favour of Kattapana Rotary Trust which subsequently proceeded to commence construction of recreation club and badminton court on the land. Stop memo was issued by the Special Village Officer on 23 July 2019 based on a complaint. Since the construction of buildings of such nature was clear violation of the Rules for lease of Government lands for Cardamom Cultivation, 1961, the land was liable to be resumed to Government, but no action had been taken as at the time of audit. In response to audit enquiry (July 2022), the DC informed that directions had been given to Tahsildar in July 2022 to take necessary action in accordance with relevant Act and Rules.

⁸⁶ Survey number 2469/132 (re-survey numbers 447/1, 447/2, 447/3)

⁸⁷ Peroorkada village was under panchayat area during 1994

⁸⁸ LA II 24/94 to LA II 31/94. Area of assignment ranged from 25 cents to 80 cents.

As per Rule 9(3) of KLAR,1964, it was specified that in cases where the land granted on registry is already held by the assignee, the arrears of assessment recoverable by the Government should be limited to the amount of basic tax due on the land for the period of actual occupation. When any person is in occupation of Government land by way of encroachment not considered objectionable, such land if such occupation is before 01 August 1971, shall be assigned on registry (occupied land). In the eight registry cases, land tax was assessed only for one year as against the arrears for the period of actual occupation.

⁹⁰ vide sale deed number 1944/94 of Sub-Registrar Office, Sasthamangalam

⁹¹ M/s Poabs Granites was holding mining licence till 2018.

Rule 2(c) of the "Rules for lease of Government Land for Cardamom Cultivation, 1961" read with condition No. 7 under Appendix II (Rule 28)

⁹³ Even though a sale deed was registered, no changes were made in the revenue records transferring ownership

Audit observed that matters relating to use of assigned land for unauthorised purposes such as construction of resorts in Idukki district had come up for consideration of Hon'ble High Court of Kerala. In line with an interim High Court judgement, the Government issued (August 2019) an order stating that amendment to Building Rules is required and an No Objection Certificate (NOC) from the VO attesting the purpose of land assignment should be made mandatory for issuing building permits so as to prevent use of land for commercial purposes. Audit observed that though Local Self-Government Department issued order on 25 September 2019 insisting on production of an NOC showing the purpose for which such land was assigned, the Building Rules were not amended. The Hon'ble Court directed Local Self-Government Department to issue a Government order extending its order dated 25 September 2019 to the entire State within three weeks. The Hon'ble High Court also noted that there was lack of coordination among the different⁹⁴ departments of the Government. Hence, with regard to the issue of permit by the Local Authority for construction, the Court directed the Government to explore the possibility of having a single window clearance for the purpose. Though the Government issued (August 2019) orders directing the DC Idukki to submit a report on usage of land for non-assigned purposes, violations of conditions of assignment, etc., no report was submitted by the DC (December 2022).

Audit observed that even as on date, no mechanism has been put in place by the Government to ensure that assigned land is not misused for other purposes by intervention at the initial stage itself. For instance, even in September 2021, Revenue Department had issued a memo to stop construction of a resort in Munnar without obtaining necessary NOC and the same was challenged in the High Court. Number of stop memos issued by DC, Idukki in 2021-22 and 2022-23 for stopping constructions on assigned lands was 23.

In some cases though NOC had been issued, the violation of land assignment terms (construction of resort on land assigned for cultivation) had been commented upon by the Court observing that subsequent assignees of *pattadar* could not claim any right other than that conferred on the original assignee. Audit observes that the issue of NOC by the Revenue officers in such cases clearly reveals the inadequacy of the existing system.

2.1.30.3. Issue of irregular certificates by Revenue authorities

As per Kerala Minor Mineral Concession Rules, 2015, a certificate from the VO to the effect that the land in respect of which quarrying permit is applied for, is not assigned for any special purpose by the Department of Land Revenue should accompany the application for quarrying permit. Audit noticed that in two cases shown in **Appendix 2.7** (Sl. No. 1 and 2), the VO has irregularly issued a certificate to the effect that the land was not assigned for any special purpose.

Even though Government lands assigned on registry for a specific purpose was utilised for other purposes, no action was taken by the authorities to resume the land. Government should fix responsibility and initiate action against officials

⁹⁴ Revenue, Local Self-Government, Forest, Police

who failed to monitor and ensure the utilisation of assigned land for intended purposes.

2.1.31. Non-adherence to recommendations of Public Accounts Committee

Trivandrum Tennis Club (TTC) was formed in the year 1938 and it was granted 4.27.20 acres of land in Anchamada Pakuthy village (now Sasthamangalam village) for their activities.

A mention was made in the Comptroller and Auditor General's Report (Revenue Receipts) for the year ended 1997 regarding the rent received by TTC by letting out Government land leased out to TTC. It also mentioned that the land let out by the Club was assigned on registry to an oil company. Public Accounts Committee (2008-11) in its 111 Report (Para 50 and 51) recommended penal action against those officials who committed serious lapse in carrying out the orders for the collection of lease rent arrears and of eviction of land in violation of lease conditions. It was also recommended to take necessary steps to resume the land with respect to TTC in view of the illegal transfer of a portion by the TTC to an oil company. In the Action Taken Report furnished (January 2015) by the Revenue Department, it was stated that the resumption of land was in progress and with respect to penal action against the officials concerned, Revenue (D) Department was recommended for taking further follow up action. However, Audit noticed that the Department did not resume the land with respect to TTC even after being recommended by Public Accounts Committee 10 years ago. Instead, the Government issued (March 2016) orders to reduce the lease rent arrears to ₹2.22 lakh from ₹11.09 crore being the lease rent upto 31 March 2016.

During Exit Conference (January 2023), ACS replied that it was not possible to resume the land given to a GoI Public Sector Undertaking and informed that necessary action would be taken to regularise the assignment. However, Audit noticed that remarks of Government did not comply with the recommendations of the Public Accounts Committee.

2.1.32. Laxity in follow up of court cases

Out of 1,183 lease cases as on 31 March 2022 in the selected districts, 49 lease cases amounting to ₹166.71 crore were under orders of stay by various Courts and the period of stay ranged from one to 23 years. Considering the long period of pendency, Audit observed that there was laxity on the part of Revenue authorities in getting the stays vacated. This has resulted in blocking up of lease rent on Government land.

2.1.33. Improper maintenance of records

Records/ documents relating to lease need to be maintained during the currency of lease. As the Government land let out on lease to Women's Club and Sri Mulam Club were still being occupied by the Clubs, Audit called for lease files

relating to these from the Government for scrutiny. However, it was replied that the files relating to Women's Club had been destroyed while those relating to Sri Mulam Club was not traceable.

Audit noticed that records/ files in respect of 95 *per cent*, i.e., 325 cases out of a total number of 343 lease cases were not available in Idukki district.

Improper maintenance of records, both at the Government level and at the subordinate level would be detrimental to Government in case of any litigation or when assessing the currency/lease rent of lease cases at a later stage. The largescale loss of vital records could also be a deliberate attempt to weaken the position of Government in respect of claim to land.

2.1.34. Non-conduct of periodical inspection

As per Rules⁹⁵, the assigning authority should conduct periodical inspections to ensure that no violation of any of the conditions has taken place.

Audit noticed that in respect of lands assigned on registry, in seven⁹⁶ out of 11 taluks, no periodical inspection was conducted by the assigning authority. Similarly, in respect of lands assigned on lease, in seven⁹⁷ out of 11 taluks, no periodical inspection was conducted by the assigning authority.

2.1.35. Non-maintenance of registers and accounts

Rule 22 of KLAR stipulates that the registers and accounts necessary for the purpose of these Rules are to be maintained by the authorities concerned. The Tahsildar has to maintain a register showing the land assigned in each taluk with particulars of the assignee and conduct periodic check to ensure that the conditions of the assignment were not violated. Further, Rule 19 of RALMCA stipulates that the assigning authority has to maintain a register showing the details of land assigned under these rules with particulars of the assignee, survey number, village, taluk, etc., and conduct periodical inspection to ensure that no violation of any of the condition has taken place. Audit noticed that in District Collectorate, Idukki, the lease register was not being maintained. In the remaining districts, though a lease register was maintained, it was not seen updated. Audit also noticed that no periodical inspections were conducted by the Tahsildar or by the assigning authority to ensure that no violation of the conditions of assignment took place.

Due to improper maintenance of records, Government is not aware of the actual extent of land assigned, nor is it aware of the actual amount due to it. Two

⁹⁵ Rule 22 of KLAR and Rule 19 of RALMCA

⁹⁶ Thiruvananthapuram, Nedumangad, Kanayannur, Idukki, Udumbanchola, Kozhikode, Vadakara

⁹⁷ Thiurvananthapuram, Nedumangad, Aluva, Kanayannur, Idukki, Udumbanchola, Kozhikode

⁹⁸ Register for assignment of land on registry and on lease

For institutional leases, the assigning authority is the Government. While DC is the assigning authority under RALMCA, Tahsildar is the assigning authority under KLAR.

instances noticed by Audit where land was occupied during the preindependence period are enumerated below.

- A piece of land measuring 33.62 cents situated within 100 metres from the Government secretariat was leased out to the Hindu Mission in 1920. The fact that this was leased out came to the notice of the authorities only when an encroacher applied (November 2017) for grant of lease for a portion within that land. Hindu Mission was evicted from the land in February 2022.
- 5.2 acres of Government land was in possession of Trivandrum Club (earlier 'The Club', Trivandrum) since 1902. When directed by the Government in 2022 to establish the title of the said land, the Club could not establish it. The possession of Government land by the Club had come to notice of Government only when a private person had approached the court against the possession of Government land by the Club.

2.1.36. Conclusion

An approved list of Government and assignable land was not prepared in any of the test-checked districts in the State. RALMCA did not prescribe any limit on the area of land assignable for purposes other than house sites resulting in Government assigning land without limits in Municipal and Corporation areas. Land was being assigned to ineligible persons. Land was transferred on registry to various agencies without collecting the market value and such lands were even being used for commercial activities. Audit noticed instances of irregular assignment of non-assignable land. Failure of Government/ Revenue authorities to take decision regarding renewal of lease rent resulted in unauthorised occupation of land as well as loss of revenue to Government. No mechanism was in place (involving co-ordination with Registration Department) to ensure that all leases were getting registered which could have a deterrent effect on potentially fraudulent alienation of assigned lands. Lease rents of land were neither being revised as per the periodicity set by extant rules nor being collected regularly causing loss to exchequer. Government has not taken rectification measures like resumption of the land in violation of conditions. Waiver of lease rent on land provided to Clubs and other agencies caused monetary loss to Government. Similarly, assigned land were being utilised for other purposes and there were instances of alienation of assigned land in violation of Rules. Large number of court cases relating to land lease were under stay and the stay period ranged from one to 23 years. The maintenance of records and registers relating to lease of land was deficient resulting in loss of vital information.

2.1.37. Recommendations

- i) Government should take steps to maintain an updated consolidated data of all land assignments made in the State and assignments on registry should not merely be a tool for regularisation of land encroachments.
- ii) Government should prescribe a limit for the area of land that can be assigned on registry for purposes other than house sites in Municipal/Corporation areas as is done in cases of assignments on registry of the land already held under lease.
- iii) Government must fix responsibility in cases of assignment of land to ineligible persons, non-collection of market value in cases of assignment on registry and in cases of assigned land not being used for intended purpose.
- iv) Government should adhere to the provisions of Registration Act and ensure that all leases of immovable property exceeding one year are registered.
- v) The illegalities relating to the assignment of Government land are to be dealt with strongly and action must be taken against delinquent officers who have by negligence or complicity abetted these violations. Accordingly, Government must take rectification measures to set right the irregularities so that public interests are served and fix responsibility on the officials concerned for such lapses.
- vi) Government should take steps to incorporate necessary provisions in the Rules for effective monitoring of land assignment activities as well as the utilisation of land post assignment and devise a mechanism for proper maintenance of records including digitisation of the documents.
- vii) As the irregularities pointed out by Audit are only illustrative, Government should take steps to identify similar irregularities across the State. Further, concrete steps must be taken to ensure that violation of rules on land assignment does not take place. Government should also resume land from habitual defaulters.

COMPLIANCE AUDIT PARAGRAPHS

CHAPTER III COMPLIANCE AUDIT PARAGRAPHS

Fraudulent claims/ payments

LABOUR AND SKILLS DEPARTMENT

3.1. Payment of fraudulent placement claims under PMKVY Scheme

Failure of Kerala Academy for Skills Excellence to ensure the genuineness of placement documents submitted by the training partners resulted in undue financial benefit of ₹16.72 lakh to the training partners.

Pradhan Mantri Kaushal Vikas Yojana (PMKVY) is a central scheme launched (15 July 2015) by the Ministry of Skill Development and Entrepreneurship (MSDE) to encourage and promote skill development in the country by providing free short duration skill training and incentivising this by providing monetary rewards to youth for skill certification. PMKVY 2016-20 (PMKVY 2.0¹00) is implemented through two components (i) Centrally Sponsored Centrally Managed (CSCM) - implemented by the National Skill Development Corporation and (ii) Centrally Sponsored State Managed (CSSM) - implemented by State Government through State Skill Development Missions (SSDM). Components of PMKVY 2.0 include (i) short-term training (ii) recognition of prior learning and (iii) special projects. SSDMs which are entrusted to implement the short-term training component, empanel training partners (TPs) to undertake the trainings.

Paragraph 1.7.2 of the PMKVY 2.0 guidelines outlines the minimum milestones to be followed for payout¹⁰¹ to the TPs. The third tranche payout is linked to the placement¹⁰² of the certified candidates. Paragraph 5.7.2 of the guidelines gives the placement disbursement pattern¹⁰³. These are shown in Table 3.1 below.

¹⁰⁰ The first phase was undertaken by NSDC. PMKVY 2.0 is the second phase involving the State Government and it aimed to impart skilling to 10 million youth of the country.

¹⁰¹ The payout is calculated at the rate prescribed for job role per hour per candidate as per Gazette notification dated 31 December 2018 of MSDE. The payouts are directly transferred to the bank account of the TPs.

 $^{^{102}}$ Candidate should continue to be in jobs for a minimum period of three months from the date of placement.

¹⁰³ The TPs are eligible for placement related payment only if 50 *per cent* or more certified candidates get employment within three months of certification.

Table 3.1: Payout milestones and placement disbursement pattern

Payout mil	lestones	Placement disb	Placement disbursement pattern		
Tranche	Per cent of total cost	Output parameters	Placement (in per cent)	Disbursement	
1	30	On commencement of the training batch against validated candidates	< 50	Nil	
2	50	On successful certification of the trainees	50-69	Pro-rata basis	
3	20	Outcome based on placement	70 or more	20%	

(Source: Guidelines of PMKVY 2.0)

Kerala Academy for Skills Excellence¹⁰⁴ (KASE), the SSDM of Government of Kerala is the implementing agency of the CSSM component of PMKVY in Kerala.

During the Audit of KASE covering the period 2017-22, it was observed that only two TPs¹⁰⁵ (out of 31 TPs) had received the third tranche (₹16.72 lakh). Hence, Audit verified the claims made by the two TPs i.e., M/s SB Global Educational Resources Pvt. Ltd. and M/s Kavitha Pvt. ITI which received ₹1.02 lakh and ₹15.70 lakh respectively as detailed in Table 3.2 below.

Table 3.2: Details of claims made by the two training partners

Name of training partner	No. of candidates certified	No. of candidates placed	Amount of final tranche disbursed (₹ in lakh)
M/s SB Global Educational Resources Pvt. Ltd., Ernakulam	42	27	1.02
M/s Kavitha Pvt. ITI, Alappuzha	428	309	15. 70

(Source: Details furnished by KASE)

Audit noticed that the two TPs claimed for payment of the third tranche from KASE by submitting documents like job offer letters, bank statements and salary slips from 28 companies which supposedly gave placement. In order to verify the genuineness of these documents, Audit randomly selected and visited three companies (employing 39 trainees) and shared the copies of the documents provided by the TPs and the following observations are made:

• According to the claim submitted by M/s SB Global Educational Resources Pvt. Ltd, 14 trainees trained by them were placed in Company 1. After verifying the documents pertaining to the 14 trainees, the company informed that out of the 14 trainees only five were employed by them. Also, none of the job offer letters, salary statements, etc., submitted by the TP including those of five trainees were issued by them.

¹⁰⁴ KASE is the State Skill Development Mission under Department of Labour and Skills, Government of Kerala.

¹⁰⁵ M/s Kavitha Pvt. ITI, Alappuzha and M/s SB Global Educational Resources Pvt. Ltd.

- M/s Kavitha Pvt. ITI, Alappuzha, submitted claim for eight trainees who were placed in Company 2. The company informed that none of the trainees were employed by them, and the appointment letters and salary slips were not issued by them.
- Further, M/s Kavitha Pvt. ITI, Alappuzha submitted another claim that 17 trainees were placed in Company 3. It was informed by Company 3 that none of the trainees were employed by them during the period and that the appointment letters and salary slips were not issued by them.

Thus, the verification of the documents by Audit revealed that these two TPs furnished forged documents for claiming the third tranche from KASE.

The Government replied (February 2023) that the third tranche was paid to the two TPs by KASE after receipt of the appointment letters, salary slips and bank statements of candidates issued by the employers supplemented with telephonic verification from the trainees. However, Audit noted that KASE failed to verify the genuineness of these documents from the issuing companies which resulted in undue financial benefit of ₹16.72 lakh to the TPs. Based on the audit observations, KASE intimated that they carried out physical verification of all companies in Alappuzha district and found that all the documents submitted by the TPs purportedly from these companies were fraudulent. This has asserted the above audit findings that the TPs are indulging in malpractices by furnishing of fraudulent documents in order to obtain the third tranche of the PMKVY grant.

In view of the above instances, it is recommended that before release of the final tranche, the veracity of the supporting documents must be checked and only genuine claims should be passed for payment. Suitable action must be taken against officials responsible for passing fraudulent claims and against the TPs concerned. Amounts paid against false claims should be recovered immediately.

Excess payment

FOOD, CIVIL SUPPLIES AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS DEPARTMENT

3.2. Wrong application of interest rate by Supplyco led to excess payment to a supplier

Erroneous application of commercial interest rate instead of bank rate by Supplyco for calculating interest on delayed payment led to excess payment of ₹1.07 crore.

Section 16 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act) stipulates that where any buyer fails to make payment of the

amount to the supplier as required in the Act, the buyer shall be liable to pay compound interest with monthly rests to the supplier on that amount from the appointed day or, as the case may be, from the date immediately following the date agreed upon, at three times of the bank rate¹⁰⁶ notified by the Reserve Bank.

The Kerala State Civil Supplies Corporation Limited (Supplyco) awarded (January 2007) the contract for supplying pure coffee and blended coffee powder for two years under Sabari Brand to M/s Sans Spices and Curry Powders, Wayanad (Supplier) and executed an agreement (January 2007). As the Supplier failed to supply the quantity ordered within the delivery schedule, Supplyco terminated the contract (05 June 2008). Aggrieved by the termination of the contract, the Supplier filed (30 November 2008) application before the Micro and Small Enterprises Facilitation Council¹⁰⁷ (MSEFC) claiming ₹36 lakh as compensation. MSEFC awarded (03 July 2010) in favour of the Supplier and Supplyco was directed to pay ₹6,91,611 with interest. Supplyco filed (October 2010) Writ Petition against the award before the Hon'ble High Court which was disposed of (28 May 2013) for conciliation at MSEFC. MSEFC decided (April 2014) to constitute a committee for effecting the conciliation. The conciliation before the committee failed (April 2015) and the matter was referred back to MSEFC which in its final hearing (15 March 2016) directed Supplyco to pay ₹6,91,611 with compound interest calculated at three times the bank rate notified by RBI (from 10 August 2007) till the date of realisation of the award, as provided under Section 16 of the MSMED Act. Supplyco sought legal opinion that opined (July 2018) that there was no scope for further appeal on the award other than mediation and settlement.

Consequently, a negotiation was called for by the Chairman and Managing Director (CMD), Supplyco (06 January 2020) wherein the Supplier submitted a claim for ₹10,21,94,663 apart from other damages. The Assistant Manager computed the award amount reckoning interest at three times bank rate as well as commercial lending rate which came out to ₹94.93 lakh and ₹2.55 crore respectively.

However, the CMD, Supplyco overlooked the calculation based on Bank rate quoting ¹⁰⁸ the judgement of the Hon'ble High Court of Bombay in M/s Sonali Power Equipment versus Chairman Maharashtra State Electricity Board. After negotiation the supplier agreed (06 January 2020) to settle the case for ₹ two crore and relinquish all other claims. The supplier was paid ₹ two crore on 13 January 2020. The amount Supplyco was liable to pay if the amount was paid to the supplier on the date of final judgement of MSEFC and the amount actually paid due to delay in payment is shown in the **Table 3.3** below:

MSEFC - established by State Governments under provisions of MSMED Act, 2006, for settling disputes on getting references/ filing on delayed payments.

¹⁰⁶ Bank rate is the rate charged by RBI for lending funds to commercial banks.

¹⁰⁸ As per the proceedings dated 06 January 2020 of CMD, the interest was to be calculated on the basis of commercial rates of Nationalised Banks in consonance with the judgement of Hon'ble High Court of Bombay

Table 3.3: Computation of the amount as per MSEFC award

Total amount **Events** Award amount Interest Amount Supplyco was liable to pay to the supplier, if the amount was paid on the date of final judgement of MSEFC (15 March 2016) with compound interest 691611 3805267.85 4496878.85 calculated at three times the bank rate notified by RBI (from 10 August 2007) The award amount computed by Supplyco reckoning compound interest calculated at three times the bank 691611 8802217.09 9493828.09 rate notified by RBI till 31 December 2019 The award amount computed by Audit reckoning 9328980.75^{109} 8637369.75 compound interest calculated at three times the bank 691611 rate notified by RBI till 31 December 2019 Amount paid to supplier after negotiation 20000000

(Source: Details received from Supplyco)

Thus, the action of CMD, Supplyco to calculate the interest payable to supplier contrary to the award of MSEFC and provisions contained in MSMED Act quoting the judgement of Hon'ble High Court of Bombay which may not be applicable in this case led to excess payment of ₹1.07 crore¹¹⁰ to the Supplier.

Government replied (March 2023) that as per normal Government practice/proceeding, negotiated amount was to be intimated to Government and the payment was to be done only after getting clearance from Government. However, this process was not followed by the then CMD. It was a serious financial violation and irregularity on the part of the then CMD. Further, based on the Audit objection, a recovery notice was issued (October 2022) by Supplyco but the amount was yet to be paid to Supplyco.

Non/ short collection of revenue

REVENUE AND DISASTER MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT

3.3. Non-levy of building tax due to buildings escaping assessment resulting in non/ short collection of revenue amounting to ₹31.60 crore

The failure on the part of Revenue department officials to assess buildings liable for building tax resulted in non/ short collection of revenue amounting to ₹31.60 crore to the Government.

Section 5(1) of the Kerala Building Tax Act, 1975 (Act) stipulates that building tax shall be charged¹¹¹ on every building, the construction of which is completed

¹⁰⁹ Instead of computing the interest from 10.08.2007 (MSEFC award), Supplyco computed the interest from 01.07.2007 and arrived at the amount ₹94.93 lakh. Audit computed the amount as ₹93.28 lakh by calculating the interest from 10.08.2007.

^{110 ₹2.00} crore – ₹93.28 lakh (the amount calculated by Audit) = ₹1.07 crore

¹¹¹ Exemptions (Section 3 of the Act) – (a) buildings owned by the Government of Kerala or the Government of India or any local authority; and (b) buildings used principally for religious, charitable or educational purposes or as factories or workshops.

on or after 10th February 1992, based on the plinth area of the building, at the rates prescribed. As per Rule 3 of the Kerala Building Tax (Plinth Area) Rules, 1992, every Village Officer shall transmit to the assessing authority¹¹², within five days of the expiry of each month, a monthly list of buildings liable to assessment under Section 5 of the Act, together with extracts from the building application register of the local authority within whose area the buildings included in the list are situated. As per Rule 13 of the Kerala Building Tax (Plinth Area) Rules 1992, a register of assessment shall be maintained by each assessing authority in Form A, and register of persons assessed shall be maintained in the Village Office in Form B. Besides, a register showing the details of houses reported to the assessing authority for assessment will also be maintained by the Village Officer, in Form C.

Section 5(4) of the Act states that where the plinth area of a building is subsequently increased by new extensions or major repair or improvement building tax shall be computed on the total plinth area of the building, including that of the new extension or repair or improvement and credit shall be given to the tax already levied and collected.

During the course of audit of Taluk Offices in 2019-20, Audit examined the issue of buildings escaping assessment and noticed the following.

- Buildings assessed for property tax by Local Self Government Institutions (LSGIs) were not assessed for collection of building tax in several instances. Cross verification of records of property tax assessments at LSGIs with records of building tax in 19 Taluk Offices revealed that 1,284 buildings assessed under property tax by the LSGIs were not identified by the Village Officers or reported to the Tahsildars concerned for assessment under building tax Act/ Rule. This resulted in the buildings escaping assessments and consequent non-levy of building tax amounting to ₹4.49 crore as detailed in **Appendix 3.1**.
- In 24 Taluk Offices, cross verification of registers in Form C maintained in Village Offices with the registers in Form A maintained in the respective Taluk Offices revealed that 2,676 buildings were not assessed to building tax by the Tahsildars concerned, though the Village Officers had reported these cases. Non-assessment of building tax resulted in a short levy of ₹15.83 crore as detailed in **Appendix 3.2**.
- Further, Audit conducted joint physical verification along with Deputy Tahsildar/ Revenue Inspector and staff of Village Office at various buildings. Audit noticed in 18 taluks, 149 instances of buildings/ additional constructions to existing buildings not being assessed for

_

¹¹² Taluk Office

building tax. Non-assessment of building tax has resulted in short levy of ₹11.28 crore¹¹³. Taluk-wise details are given in **Appendix 3.3**.

The issue of non-levy of building tax due to buildings escaping assessment has been persisting for long and was pointed out in the previous Audit Reports¹¹⁴ of the C&AG of India on Revenue Sector. GoK in its Action Taken Report on paragraphs of the 60th Report of Committee on Public Accounts 2019-21 informed (March 2022) that a new software Kerala Building Tax Management System (KBTMS) was developed for receiving building tax and luxury tax through online and action taken to link it with the softwares used in LSGIs for approving the plan, issuing building permit and also for receiving the property tax to facilitate the Village Officers in easy identification of the newly constructed buildings in their villages.

Government of Kerala replied (October 2022) that ₹11.55 crore out of the ₹31.60 crore has been realised so far and that earnest efforts are being carried out to realise the balance amount. Further, Revenue department stated (January 2023) that linking the software of LSGI with KBTMS and transferring of data to KBTMS were in progress.

Thus, the failure on the part of Revenue department officials to assess all eligible buildings for building tax resulted in non/short collection of revenue amounting to ₹31.60 crore to the Government. As the Audit scrutiny was not exhaustive and limited to certain Taluks/ Village Offices, the possibility of more buildings escaping assessment cannot be ruled out.

Government should expedite linking the softwares used in LSGI for issuing building permit and for receiving the property tax with KBTMS to identify buildings remaining unassessed for building tax and also to ensure that no buildings assessed by LSGIs escape assessment by Revenue authorities.

WATER RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

3.4. Short collection of water charges due to misclassification of buildings as flats

Misclassification of buildings as flats by Kerala Water Authority resulted in short collection of water charges to the tune of ₹82.06 lakh.

Kerala Water Supply and Sewerage (Amendment) Act, 2008 (January 2009), defines flat as buildings/ independent villas having 10 or more dwelling units or buildings having a total plinth area of 1,000 square metres or more in a premise. For calculating the water charges of a flat¹¹⁵, Kerala Water Authority (KWA) divides the total consumption of water by number of dwelling units to arrive at

¹¹⁵ Procedure described in Resolution No. 2930 of the 125th meeting of KWA dated 30 November 1993

Wherever the date of completion was available the rates of building tax applicable on that date were applied and wherever the date of completion was not available the rates of building tax as on date of joint physical verification were applied.

¹¹⁴ For the years ended March 2016, March 2017, March 2018 and March 2019

the consumption per dwelling unit. Applying the tariff¹¹⁶ applicable to the so arrived quantity, water charges per dwelling unit is calculated which is then multiplied by the total number of flats to arrive at the total water charges of the flat.

On verification of eABACUS¹¹⁷ database for the period 2014-19, Audit noticed that KWA classified buildings having less than 10 dwelling units as 'flats' in violation of the criteria contained in the Act and water charge was calculated by following the method applicable to flat instead of treating them as a single consumer unit. Audit analysis revealed that if a building was considered as a single unit, the per unit rate applied for water consumed would be the slab rate applicable to the total monthly consumption and if it was considered as a flat, the total consumption is equally divided among the individual dwelling units to find out the monthly per dwelling unit consumption and the tariff rate applicable to this slab would be used to arrive at the monthly water charges for that building¹¹⁸.

To qualify as a flat, a building has to satisfy either of the two conditions, i.e. buildings/ independent villas having 10 or more dwelling units or buildings having a total plinth area of 1,000 square metres or more in a premise. However, Audit observed that the database of KWA did not have column for entering the area of the building, thus making it impossible to verify whether a building with less than 10 dwelling units was a flat or not. Based on the analysis of database of KWA, Audit identified 544 number of buildings in the State which had less than 10 dwelling units but were classified as flat by KWA. The analysis revealed that there was a short collection of ₹4.07 crore towards water charges on account of wrong classification of buildings as flat during the period from October 2014 to March 2019. The details were made available to KWA for scrutiny as the area of the building was not available in database. KWA intimated (July 2021 and March 2022) Audit that based on the observations, directions were issued to 18 Divisions to verify the facts and figures through physical verification of the buildings and a separate field for incorporating plinth area of buildings in e-ABACUS software was introduced so as to ensure the correctness of category.

Audit again scrutinised (June 2022) the database for the period April 2019 to March 2022 to assess the current status which revealed that 38 buildings with less than 10 dwelling units were classified as flats. Though a new field for plinth area was incorporated in the software, the same remained blank and hence Audit

¹¹⁶ KWA levies water charges in different slabs based on consumption. As per the tariff structure of KWA, the rate per unit of water increases as a consumer moves from one slab to a higher one. The highest water slab is 'above 50KL - ₹700.00 plus ₹40/KL in excess of 50KL'. Other slabs include above 15 to 20KL - ₹ six/KL for the entire consumption, etc.

Enhanced Advanced Billing, Accounting and Collection Utility System (eABACUS) is a web based billing, accounting and collection system developed by NIC and put to use in KWA.

¹¹⁸ For instance, if the total monthly water consumption of a building with seven dwelling units was 140KL and if the building is considered as a single unit, water charges reckoned would be ₹4,300 (i.e., ₹700 + (₹40 x 90)). If it is categorised as a flat, charges reckoned would be ₹1,190 (consumption per dwelling unit is 20KL (140/7), rate applicable per dwelling unit is ₹120 (i.e., ₹6 x 20) plus ₹50 (fixed charges) therefore total charges leviable for the flat would be 7 x ₹170 = ₹1,190)

could not ensure that the 38 buildings having less than 10 dwelling units were flats or not.

Government of Kerala stated (October 2022) that after excluding connections having plinth area above 1,000 square metre and connections effected prior to the amendment of the Act¹¹⁹, ₹82.06 lakh was found to be short levied during 2014-19 due to misclassification in respect of 166 buildings of which ₹18.27 lakh had been recovered. Further, action was taken to make the field of plinth area mandatory in eABACUS software so as to ensure that buildings were correctly classified for the purpose of collection of water charges.

However, Audit noticed that as on 29 December 2022, against the 2,450 active water connections for flats, plinth area was updated in respect of only 14 flats leaving the plinth area column of 2,436 flats blank in the database. This could result in more buildings being wrongly classified and resultant loss of revenue. Thus, failure of KWA to follow the norms for classification of flats resulted in misclassification of buildings and consequent short collection of water charges to the tune of ₹82.06 lakh.

KWA should ensure that the plinth area of buildings is necessarily incorporated in the database and no building is classified as flat unless it satisfies either of the conditions laid down in the Amendment Act of 2008.

Regularity issue

FISHERIES AND PORTS DEPARTMENT

3.5. Excess interest burden of ₹3.61 crore on beneficiaries in violation of scheme guidelines

Violation of scheme guidelines of National Backward Classes Finance and Development Corporation for loan assistance resulted in imposition of excess interest burden of ₹3.61 crore on the beneficiaries by Government of Kerala.

As per guidelines of National Backward Classes Finance and Development Corporation (NBCFDC)¹²⁰, loan assistance under the Micro Finance Scheme¹²¹ was to be released to State Channelling Agencies (SCA)¹²² at an interest of two *per cent* and the SCA may charge maximum interest rate of five *per cent* from the beneficiaries. Similarly, as per guidelines of NBCFDC, loan assistance

A Government of India undertaking under the aegis of Ministry of Social Justice and Empowerment which provides concessional financial assistance to eligible members of backward classes for upliftment of economic status of the target group.

Loan assistance available to Self Help Groups (SHG) to provide credit facilities for the target group especially for mixed group beneficiaries.

NBCFDC implements its various financial assistance schemes through the State Channelling Agencies. The SCAs are to disburse loans for viable projects as per needs and choice of beneficiaries.

¹¹⁹ The definition of "Flat" was provided vide the Amendment Act of 2008

under the Mahila Samriddhi Yojana¹²³ was to be released to SCA at an interest of one *per cent* and the SCA may charge maximum interest rate of four *per cent*.

The Kerala State Co-operative Federation for Fisheries Development Limited (Matsyafed)¹²⁴, an SCA, disbursed loans to the beneficiaries under the Micro Finance scheme and Mahila Samriddhi Yojana at an interest rate of six *per cent*, thereby imposing excess interest burden at the rate of one *per cent* and two *per cent* respectively on the beneficiaries. This resulted in excess interest burden of ₹3.61 crore (**Appendix 3.4**) on beneficiaries during the period 2013-14 to 2020-21 due to violation of the scheme guidelines.

Audit observed that Matsyafed did not seek approval of NBCFDC for the deviation from the prescribed norms while charging the arbitrary, higher rate of interest from the beneficiaries even though the higher rates went against the interests of the beneficiaries. As the reports to be submitted by Matsyafed, in format prescribed by the NBCFDC, did not require inclusion of details of the rate of interest levied from beneficiaries, Matsyafed did not even report the same to NBCFDC. Audit also observed that Matsyafed did not obtain approval from the Government while imposing the higher rate of interest.

Government of Kerala replied (August 2022) that as on 31 March 2022 there were dues of ₹6.75 crore under the schemes out of which recovery of ₹4.75 crore was doubtful and that the overdue to be collected from the beneficiaries had exceeded the excess interest collected from the beneficiaries. However, based on audit observations, interest rates were reduced 125 from 2021-22 and that the rate of interest would be as per the norms of the funding agencies. Further, GoK informed (January 2023) Audit that MD, Matsyafed has been directed to refund the excess amount collected as interest to the beneficiaries immediately and to fix the responsibility and initiate action against those responsible for the lapse.

The reply was not tenable as lack of oversight on the part of GoK resulted in excess interest burden being imposed on a particularly vulnerable community. Further, though the Government directed Matsyafed to refund the excess amount collected immediately, this cannot be implemented as at least 51 societies (and the SHGs attached) are currently non-functional. Besides, Matsyafed has informed Audit that the excess one *per cent* collected has already been released to primary cooperative societies as interest margin.

Government should ensure that the SCA does not impose interest rate higher than those prescribed by the lending agencies.

¹²³ Loan assistance available to SHGs to provide credit facilities for the target group of women beneficiaries.

A co-operative society registered under the Kerala Co-operative Societies Act, 1969. It is an apex federation of 652 primary level co-operative societies created with the objective of economic and social development of fishermen community in Kerala.

¹²⁵ The interest rate for Micro Finance Scheme of NBCFDC was reduced (February 2021) from six per cent to five per cent and that of Mahila Samriddhi Yojana was reduced (September 2021) to four per cent from 2021-22 onwards in compliance with scheme guidelines.

Unfruitful expenditure

AGRICULTURE DEVELOPMENT AND FARMERS' WELFARE DEPARTMENT

3.6. Plantation activities of Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited

The Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited (PCKL), the largest plantation company in public sector was formed in 1962, by the Government of Kerala (GoK). PCKL accounts for 47.09 *per cent* of the total plantations owned by all PSUs in the State. Rubber and cashew are the major crops undertaken by PCKL. PCKL constitutes two *per cent* of total rubber plantation and 5.68 *per cent* of total cashew plantation in the State. Review of plantation activities of PCKL from 2017-18 to 2021-22 revealed the following.

3.6.1. Poor financial performance of PCKL

As of March 2023, the financial statements of PCKL have been finalised only up to 2020-21¹²⁶. As per the finalised accounts, PCKL incurred losses during the four-year period 2017-18 to 2020-21 as detailed in **Table 3.4**.

Table 3.4: Financial performance of PCKL

(₹ in lakh)

				(\ in iukii)
Particulars	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21
Sale of products	9388.77	6370.39	7528.18	7067.83
Services and other operating income	97.84	77.50	114.62	81.20
Other Income	443.66	322.08	163.37	108.80
Prior period adjustments	16.06	-	11.27	-
Total Income	9946.33	6769.97	7817.44	7257.83
Cost of materials consumed and direct expenses	4096.90	4332.07	4471.66	4494.73
Changes in Inventory	969.73	(141.14)	925.69	77.81
Employee benefit expenses	3851.23	2284.56	3921.67	4041.81
Depreciation and amortisation expenses	196.66	151.01	119.91	96.98
Administration and other expenses	979.95	967.32	989.66	891.54
Prior period expenses	0.69	22.09	4.91	-
Total expenses	10095.16	7615.91	10433.50	9602.87
Loss for the year	148.83	845.94	2616.06	2345.04

(Source: Annual Accounts of PCKL)

Audit analysed the reasons for increase in loss of PCKL during the Audit period. Audit noticed that there was a steady decrease in 'other income¹²⁷' of PCKL from ₹443.66 lakh in 2017-18 to ₹108.80 lakh in 2020-21 attributable to decrease in interest earnings from deposits. Further, the receipts from sale of products exhibited a decrease during the period of Audit as shown in **Table 3.5**. The decrease was mainly on account of reduction in earnings from rubber and cashew plantation. In monetary terms the reduction in receipts in 2020-21 from

127 Other income includes interest income, rent of building, dividend and other miscellaneous income.

¹²⁶ Finalisation of accounts for 2021-22 is in progress.

rubber and cashew plantations when compared with 2017-18 was ₹1,646.86 lakh and ₹516.31 lakh respectively. The reasons for reduction in earnings from rubber plantations are explained in paragraphs 3.6.2 and 3.6.3 of this Report. Whereas the reduction in receipts from cashew plantations was attributed to reasons like replanting of cashew trees, non-application of fertilizers, non-participation of contractors in e-tenders, unseasonal rain, high temperature etc. During the period of Audit, the expenditure of PCKL remained more or less steady except during the year 2018-19, when there was a fall in expenditure relating to employee benefit on account of adjustment of excess provision for gratuity. Thus, financial loss of PCKL which was ₹148.83 lakh in 2017-18 increased to ₹2,345.04 lakh in 2020-21 largely on account of reduction in income from sale of products as well as decline in interest from deposit which was main constituent of head 'other income'.

Table 3.5: Revenue from operations

(₹ in lakh)

Particulars	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21
Rubber	7,721.44	5,536.63	6,654.90	6,074.58
Cashew	1,100.98	294.06	584.65	584.67
Oil Palm	389.72	372.56	248.25	348.11
Others	255.61	232.93	147.66	121.08
Total	9,467.75	6,436.18	7,635.46	7,128.44

(Source: Annual Accounts of PCKL)

3.6.2. Physical performance of PCKL in rubber production

On analysis of the production details, it was noticed that there was reduction in yield in rubber over the years adversely affecting the revenues of PCKL resulting in recurring loss over the years as shown in **Table 3.6**.

Table 3.6: Target and achievement – rubber

Year	Target (in MT)	Production (in MT)	Achievement (in <i>per</i> cent)
2017-18	6210	4834	77.84
2018-19	5512	3884	70.46
2019-20	6000	3966	66.10
2020-21	5672	4055	71.49
2021-22	5373	3684	68.57

(Source: Data furnished by PCKL)

PCKL fixes the annual production target of rubber based on the Rubber Board guidelines as well as the yield performance of the previous years. From the above it could be seen that though the production targets were being reduced from year to year except in 2019-20, PCKL could not achieve even the reduced targets over the years. The achievement of the production targets over the five-year period ranged from 66.10 *per cent* to 77.84 *per cent*.

Government of Kerala replied (March 2023) that climate change, pests and diseases have impact on production. The only possible way is to reduce the

frequency of tapping to weekly tapping as recommended by Rubber Board and discussions with trade unions are progressing on the same.

On analysis of the reasons for the reduced achievement of production, Audit observed the following.

3.6.2.1. Increase in vacant tasks due to high absenteeism

Latex is obtained from the bark of the rubber tree by tapping. The number of trees allotted to a tapper for a day is called tapping task. Task size is fixed on the basis of number of trees standing per hectare and topography of land. Normal tapping task in India varies from 300 to 400 trees¹²⁸. Every year PCKL fixes the possible number of tasks for each estate. The total possible task arrived at by PCKL, the actual task executed and the vacant task¹²⁹ during the audit period were as given in **Table 3.7**.

Table 3.7: Details of possible task, actual task and vacant task

Particulars	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22	Total
Possible task	444842	418736	423812	333833	338665	1959888
Actual Task	418185	386931	390961	314244	305810	1816131
Vacant Task	26657	31805	32851	19589	32855	143757

(Source: Data obtained from PCKL)

The number of vacant tasks in PCKL has been gradually rising during the last five years from six *per cent* to 10 *per cent*. It is also observed that during 2017-18 to 2021-22 though the possible tapping tasks reduced by 1.06 lakh, the number of vacant tasks increased from 26,657 to 32,855. The main reason for continuous occurrence of vacant tasks was due to high absenteeism.

Audit observed that PCKL changed the tapping system from D3 to D4¹³⁰ in January 2020, which in turn reduced the number of possible tasks. However, the same did not yield the desired results as the number of vacant tasks in 2021-22 was 32,855.

In this regard, the Rubber Board in their Handbook for rubber farmers, advocates a practice of low frequency tapping with stimulation, wherein the tapping frequency could be reduced up to D7¹³¹. The Rubber Board states that this system can be practised from the first year of tapping to reduce the cost of production and also increase productive life of trees. Under D4 system, there need to be approximately 90 tapping days per year whereas under D7 tapping system the number of tapping days could be reduced to 52 days per year without any loss in production. Thus, the PCKL could have overcome the issue of labour shortage also.

As the productivity and profitability of rubber plantations depend on labour intensive skilled tapping, high absenteeism was a major issue that needs to be addressed on priority basis. Thus, lack of timely action on the part of PCKL

¹²⁸ As per Rubber Board of India

¹²⁹ tapping task left unattended

¹³⁰ D3 – tapping of trees once in every three days; D4 – tapping of trees once in every four days

tapping of trees occurs only once in seven days

resulted in persistent vacant tasks during the last five years and resultant decline in production of rubber as can be seen in **Table 3.6**. Had the PCKL resorted to low frequency tapping as prescribed by the Rubber Board, occurrence of vacant tasks could have been minimised and consequent loss of yield could also have been avoided.

Government of Kerala while accepting the audit obserations stated (March 2023) that implementing the D6 system is a long-term strategy for reducing task vacancies and it would be possible to switch to a long-term tapping system only after discussions and reaching consensus at the political and trade union level. It was further stated that tappers were being redeployed from areas awarded for slaughter tapping to other potential areas with more task vacancies.

In view of the rising percentage of vacant tasks, PCKL should expedite the implementation of low frequency tapping as prescribed by the Rubber Board to minimise vacant tasks and consequent loss of yield.

3.6.2.2. Delay in initiating replanting activities

The Rubber Board of India on their website states that the economic life period in plantations, on general considerations is, only around 32 years including seven years of immature phase and 25 years of productive phase. To ensure continuous financial viability of the plantation, stagewise replanting needs to be carried out considering the fund flow at different stages. PCKL decided, only in July 2022 to carry out replanting in 2,906.46 Ha in the next nine years. The area and life span of PCKL rubber plantations as on 31 March 2022 are as given in **Table 3.8**.

Table 3.8: Age-wise distribution of rubber plantation of PCKL as on 31.03.2022

Age	Area in Ha	Percentage to total area	Number of trees	Percentage to total trees
0 to 7	138.90	1.95	37980	2.12
8 to 25	3194.86	44.87	794549	44.45
26 to 32	3327.78	46.73	880671	49.26
33 and above	459.42	6.45	74459	4.17
Total	7120.96	100.00	1787659	100.00

(Source: Data obtained from PCKL)

Audit observed that PCKL did not have an approved long term replanting schedule for rubber plantations. The immature area of rubber plantation was only 1.95 per cent covering 2.12 per cent of the total number of trees, while the old and senile plantation area (age 26 and above) included 53.18 per cent of total area and 53.43 per cent of the total number of trees. As there would be no yield from immature plants and comparatively less yield from old/ senile plants, the fact that around 55 per cent of total trees were either immature or old/ senile had adverse effects on the rubber production of PCKL. Though details of old and senile trees were already available with PCKL through their annual census report, PCKL has not initiated replanting activities in a timely manner.

The above indicates that there was serious lapse on the part of PCKL to implement an optimal replanting schedule to ensure financial viability of rubber plantations.

Government of Kerala replied (March 2023) that PCKL is in the process of awarding low-yielding rubber areas of old and senile plantations for slaughter tapping, followed by replanting with high-yielding rubber clones. During 2022-23, 87.07 Ha rubber areas were awarded for slaughter tapping and 1,441.66 Ha areas were proposed for commencing the procedure for awarding the slaughter tapping. An area of 1,529 Ha. would be replanted in the coming years.

The reply of the Government points to laxity on the part of PCKL in strategising and implementing an optimal replanting schedule, given the fact that despite 3,787.20 Ha being old and senile plantation area as of March 2022, replanting would commence only for 1529 Ha in the coming years.

3.6.2.3. High incidence of non-tapping trees

PCKL prepares an annual census report of its plantations every year. The details of area and number of rubber plants are given in **Table 3.9**.

Particulars	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22
Mature area (Ha)	5,573.82	5,866.43	6,279.89	6,190.07	6,297.77
Tapping trees	11,33,205	11,03,523	10,77,860	10,58,431	10,54,515
Non-tapping trees	4,40,814	5,19,811	5,18,347	5,69,457	5,64,094
Slaughter trees	38,026	33,526	53,911	56,430	49,675
Total	16,12,045	16,56,860	16,50,118	16,84,318	16,68,284
Trees/Ha	289	282	263	272	265
Immature area (Ha)	1,644.25	1,357.04	943.64	750.87	659.94
No. of trees	3,74,890	2,84,744	1,45,030	1,31,274	1,19,375
Total	3,74,890	2,84,744	1,45,030	1,31,274	1,19,375
Immature trees/Ha	228	210	154	175	181
Total trees	19,86,935	19,41,604	17,95,148	18,15,592	17,87,659

Table 3.9: Details of area and number of rubber plants

(Source: Data obtained from PCKL)

On analysis of the number of tapping trees, non-tapping trees and the immature trees over the period 2017-18 to 2021-22, it was noticed that although there was a reduction of 2.55 lakh immature trees, yet there was reduction of 0.67 lakh trees in the tapping group including slaughter trees. Further, there was increase in non-tapping trees by 1.23 lakh during the same period. From the above compiled data of rubber trees in PCKL, it was seen that the number of non-tapping trees are on an increase. The percentage of non-tapping mature trees increased from 27.35 to 33.81 *per cent* from 2017-18 to 2021-22. This indicates that there is no production from almost one-third of the trees in the rubber estates of PCKL.

Government of Kerala replied (March 2023) that currently PCKL is replanting the old and senile rubber plants with high-yielding clones to ensure long-term production.

The reply was not tenable as Audit observed that the replanting activities are yet to commence as during 2022-23, only 87.07 Ha of low yielding and old and senile plantations were awarded for slaughter tapping and more such areas have been identified but not yet awarded. Thus, the incidence of non-tapping trees is only bound to increase in the coming years pointing to laxity on the part of PCKL in taking proactive steps to maintain optimum ratio of tapping and non-tapping trees.

3.6.2.4. Low density of plantation

As per the Handbook for rubber farmers published by Rubber Board of India, it is stated that the number of rubber trees that can be cultivated in a hectare of land is between 420 and 500. The standing crop density of tapping and non-tapping rubber trees in the plantations of PCKL was only 274 per hectare on an average during the five-year period 2017-18 to 2021-22. The very low density of trees invariably affects the yield of rubber and revenue earnings of PCKL. It is further observed that even while replanting the existing plantations, PCKL is not adhering to the norms advised by Rubber Board as the density of immature trees is only 181 which is less than half of what is advised by the Rubber Board and is even lesser than the existing standing crop density. This would adversely affect the future productivity and profitability of the plantations.

3.6.3. Loss of plantation

One of the issues faced by PCKL during the audit period was damage of plantations by elephants. They can damage the plants by feeding on plant parts or simply by running over the field and trampling over the plants. PCKL identified that elephant menace as a serious concern in Kalady group, Perambra, Nilambur, Rajapuram, Thannithode and Mannarkkad estates. Audit observed that PCKL lost immature rubber plantations in 280 Ha after replantation due to wild animal attack. PCKL decided to do electric fencing of the entire estates to address the wild animal menace only in January 2023.

Further, Audit observed that PCKL lost 1,46,183 mature plants during the three-year period from 2017-18 to 2019-20 due to fire hazards, natural calamities and wild animal attacks. Though PCKL was insuring the immature rubber trees against the risk that may occur from fire, lightning, storm, flood, land slide, etc, the insurance scheme availed by PCKL did not cover mature trees and loss due to wild animal attacks. In January 2021 PCKL came to know that Kerala State Insurance Department (KSID) is providing insurance coverage to mature plantations for wild animal attacks also. However, efforts taken by the PCKL for insuring the mature trees and getting coverage for wild animal attacks were not fruitful till date (February 2023).

The above indicates that there is delay/ failure on the part of the PCKL to address the wild animal menace.

Government of Kerala replied (March 2023) that the matter of plants being destroyed due to the attack of wild animals has been brought to the notice of Board of Directors of PCKL and it is proposed to construct power fence line

and also to fence the replanting areas separately to protect the plants from wild animals.

3.6.4. Failure to apply fertilizers in cashew plantations

The Ministry of Agriculture and Farmers Welfare, Government of India, issued (2010-11) a 'Model Profile for 1.0 Ha Cashew Cultivation' wherein a model project for cultivating cashew crop in a technically feasible and financially viable manner has been detailed. It advises that in order to get better yield, it is essential to maintain adequate N:P:K ratio¹³² in the soil and recommends usage of fertilizers for maintaining the same.

Audit observed that PCKL did not resort to use of any sort of fertilizers as prescribed. As against target of minimum eight kg yield per tree per year, the average yield for the five years from 2017-18 to 2021-22 was 5.61 kg per tree. Application of fertilizer would have assisted PCKL in getting better yield.

Government of Kerala accepted (March 2023) the audit observation and cited that non-application of fertilizers is one of the causes of cashew production depletion and that application of fertilizers in accordance with standard recommendations were being undertaken in areas where replanting has begun.

3.6.5. Conclusion

PCKL was consistently incurring loss in its operation and returns from its main plantations i.e., rubber and cashew were decreasing. PCKL failed to adopt the good practices advocated by the Rubber Board to reduce the cost of production, increase productive life of trees and to manage tapping labour absenteeism. Failure of PCKL to utilise annual census details to carry out replantation of rubber trees in a scientific manner resulted in increase in area with old and senile trees. PCKL also failed to maintain the recommended density of rubber trees in its estates.

3.6.6. Recommendations

- PCKL should consider taking action in line with recommendations of Rubber Board and other good practices prevalent in the sector to enhance output from its plantations and thereby increase the earnings.
- PCKL should prepare a long-term action plan for replantation of rubber trees, so that the plantations of PCKL at any stage contains substantial percentage of mature rubber yielding trees.

¹³² Nitrogen:Phosphorous:Pottasium ratio represents the essential nutrients for plant growth.

3.7. Unfruitful expenditure on a dairy farm by the Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited

Non-purchase of cows for the dairy farm project by Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited resulted in unfruitful expenditure of ₹5.54 crore.

Plantation Corporation of Kerala Limited¹³³ (PCKL), sought sanction (May 2013) from Government of Kerala (GoK) for setting up a dairy farm in its cashew estates, at an estimated cost of ₹ five crore¹³⁴. The main objective of the project was to produce and market 1200 to 1500 litres of farm fresh chilled packed milk per day. The project envisaged purchase of 100 cows in two phases¹³⁵ and establishment of plant for processing the milk. The dairy farm was expected to generate a net profit of ₹66.45 lakh in the first year and achieve break even in the seventh year of operation. GoK accorded sanction (October 2013) to the proposal and *inter alia* included the condition that the quality of milk supplied from the pasteurization unit was to be maintained.

As the Government approval was for selling pasteurized milk in place of farm fresh chilled milk, Board of Directors of PCKL decided to take steps for establishing a pasteurization unit. Despite this change, PCKL neither submitted a revised project report for Government approval of a pasteurization unit nor did it ensure the availability of additional fund for setting up the pasteurization unit before commencing the project. Excess expenditure of setting up a pasteurization unit as against the proposed chilling unit was met by reducing the number of cows from 100 to 14. After completing the works of the project, the farm was inaugurated on 29 February 2016. As a result, the total production of milk (December 2022) in the dairy farm was approximately 60 litres/day against the envisaged 1200 to 1500 litres/day.

Audit observed that the non-purchase of cows had resulted in non-production of envisaged quantity of milk which in turn led the dairy farm to incur a loss of ₹1.69 crore during the period from 2015-16 to 2021-22.

Since the farm was operating at a financial loss for years, to avoid further losses, the Board decided (June 2022) to lease the farm machinery and existing infrastructure for five years to any other Government/ public/ private institutions through e-tender, as it was not practical to set up a full-fledged farm. Though, GoK accorded sanction for the proposal (November 2022) no bidders participated in the e-tender process (January 2023).

The non-purchase of cows to produce sufficient milk even after a lapse of more than six years indicates lack of priority and prudence in incurring expenditure by the Board of Directors of PCKL. Thus, the project meant to increase the revenue of the cashew plantations of PCKL through production and supply of

-

¹³³ Plantation corporation of Kerala Ltd. is the largest plantation company in the public sector owned by Government of Kerala

¹³⁴ General works - ₹55 lakh, Civil works - ₹3.70 crore, Mechanical and electrical works - ₹11 lakh and variable cost - ₹56 lakh

¹³⁵ Fifty cows each in phase I and II within six months gap

milk failed to achieve its objective despite incurring an expenditure of ₹5.54 crore. PCKL also incurred an operational loss of ₹1.69 crore.

The matter was referred to Government (January 2023) and reply is awaited.

(ANIM CHERIAN)
Principal Accountant General

(Audit I), Kerala

Thiruvananthapuram, The 07 September 2023

New Delhi,

The 18 October 2023

Countersigned

(GIRISH CHANDRA MURMU)
Comptroller and Auditor General of India

APPENDICES

Appendix 1.1

Department-wise details of outstanding Inspection Reports and paragraphs as on 31 January 2023

(Reference: Paragraph 1.6.1)

Sl.		Number of outs	Number of outstanding			
No.	Name of Department	Inspection Reports	Paragraphs			
1.	Agriculture Development and Farmers' Welfare	145	822			
2.	Animal Husbandry and Dairy Development	25	90			
3.	AYUSH	176	846			
4.	Backward Communities Development	16	66			
5.	Coastal Shipping and Inland Navigation	10	40			
6.	Cooperation	36	201			
7.	Election	4	10			
8.	Fisheries and Ports	80	367			
9.	Food, Civil Supplies and Consumer Affairs	55	229			
10.	General Administration	20	105			
11.	General Education	354	1535			
12.	Health and Family Welfare	703	4646			
13.	Higher Education	318	2103			
14.	Home	309	1754			
15.	Housing	5	18			
16.	Information and Public Relations	15	72			
17.	Labour and Skills	119	485			
18.	Law	33	103			
19.	Local Self-Government	1888	7116			
20.	Minority Welfare Development	7	23			
21.	Non-Resident Keralite Affairs	6	16			
22.	Parliamentary Affairs	1	1			
23.	Personnel and Administrative Reforms	3	28			
24.	Revenue and Disaster Management	666	4214			
25.	Sainik Welfare	16	34			
26.	Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes Development	441	2148			
27.	Social Justice	78	439			
28.	Sports and Youth Affairs	20	131			
29.	Vigilance	14	60			
30.	Water Resources	164	636			
31.	Women and Child Development	44	205			
	Total	5771	28543			

Appendix 1.2 Details of Action Taken Notes pending as of September 2022 (Reference: Paragraph 1.6.3)

Sl. No.	Department	2014-15	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Standalone Audit Report on Preparedness and response to floods in Kerala	2021	Standalone Audit Report on Functioning of the University of Kerala	Total
1.	Health and Family Welfare	-	-	-	-	2	-	1	-	3
2.	Higher Education	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	41	42
3.	General Administration	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
4.	Local Self-Government	1	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	2
5.	General Education	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
6.	Scheduled Castes Development, Scheduled Tribes Development	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
7.	Water Resources	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
8.	Revenue	-	-	-	-	-	15	-	-	15
Tota	l	1	2	1	3	2	15	2	41	67

Action Taken Notes on none of the paragraphs included in the Report pertaining to the period 2021 and Standalone Report on 'Functioning of the University of Kerala' were received.

Appendix 1.3

Details of pendency in Action Taken Notes relating to PSUs as of September 2022

(Reference: Paragraph 1.6.3)

Sl. No.	Year	Audit paragraph	Name of PSU
1	2015-16	3.3	KURDFC
2	2016-17	4.2	Supplyco
3	2017-18	5.4	KFL, Oushadhi
4		5.6	KSHPDC, KEPCO, MPI, KAICO, Aralam Farming Corporation, KAVIL, KSCDC, Kerala School Teachers and Non-teaching Staff Corporation, KSDC for CC and RC, KSDCSCSTL, Kerala State Handicapped Persons Welfare Corporation Limited, Kerala State Women's Development Corporation, KURDFC, Kerala State Minority Development Finance Corporation, Kerala State Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited, KSWCFC, KPHCC, KLDC, KIIDC, KFL, KMSCL, Supplyco, NORKA, KSCADC, Clean Kerala Company Limited, TrEST
5		5.1	KSHPDC
6	2018-19	5.5	KAICO
7		5.6	PCKL
8	2020-21	2.2	KAICO, KAMCO, KEPCO, KFL, KLDB, KLDC, KSCDC, MPI, PCKL, VAFPCL

Statement showing the details of paragraphs pending discussion by the Public Accounts Committee as of September 2022

(Reference: Paragraph 1.6.4)

Sl. No.	Department	2013-14	2014-15	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Standalone Audit Report on Preparedness and response to floods in Kerala	2021	Standalone Audit Report on Functioning of the University of Kerala	Total
1.	AYUSH	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	1
2.	Health and Family Welfare	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	1	-	3
3.	Higher Education	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	41	43
4.	General Administration	•	•	2	-	•	-	1	-	-	2
5.	General Education	1	1	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	2
6.	Co-operation	ı	ı	-		1	-	1		ı	1
7.	Consumer Affairs	-	-			1		-		-	1
8.	Housing	1	-	-	-	1	-	-		-	2
9.	Home and Vigilance	-	-	-	1	1	-	-		-	2
10.	Labour and Skills	-	-	-	2	-	-	-		-	2
11.	Labour and Skills, Scheduled Castes Development, Scheduled Tribes Development	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	•	1
12.	Revenue		3	-	-	-	-	15		-	18
13.	Water Resources	-	1	-	1	1	-	10	-	-	13
14.	Local Self-Government	-	1	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	2
15.	Fisheries	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	1
Tota	1	1	6	2	6	8	3	25	2	41	94

None of the paragraphs included in the Reports pertaining to the period 2017-18 onwards were discussed by Public Accounts Committee.

Statement showing the details of paragraphs pending discussion by the Committee on Public Undertakings as of September 2022

(Reference: Paragraph 1.6.4)

Sl. No.	Year	Audit paragraph	Name of Administrative Department			
1	2015-16	3.3	Agriculture, Animal Husbandry, Ayush, Civil Supplies,			
			Labour and Rehabilitation, LSGD			
		3.5	Agriculture, Animal Husbandry			
2	2016-17	4.2	Civil Supplies			
3	2017-18	4.1	Civil Supplies			
		5.2	Animal Husbandry			
		5.4	Agriculture, Animal Husbandry, Ayush, Backward			
			Classes Development, SCST Development			
		5.6	Agriculture, Animal Husbandry, Backward Classes			
			Development, Civil Supplies, Fisheries, General			
			Administration (Coordination), General Education,			
			Health and Family Welfare, Higher Education, Home,			
			Housing, Labour and Rehabilitation, LSGD, Minority			
			Welfare, NORKA, SCST Development, Social Justice,			
			Water Resources, Women and Child Development			
4	2018-19	5.1	Agriculture			
		5.5	Agriculture, Animal Husbandry			
		5.6	Agriculture			
		5.8	Coastal Shipping and Inland Navigation			
5	2020-21	2.2	Agriculture			

Details of sampling

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.3)

District selected	Taluk Offices selected	Revenue Divisional Office selected		
Ernakulam	 Muvattupuzha Kanayannur Aluva 	Fort Kochi Muvattupuzha		
Thiruvananthapuram	4. Nedumangad5. Thiruvananthapuram	3. Nedumangad4. Thiruvananthapuram		
Kozhikode	6. Vadakara7. Kozhikode	5. Vadakara6. Kozhikode		
Idukki	8. Idukki 9. Udumbanchola 10. Thodupuzha 11. Devikulam	7. Idukki 8. Devikulam		

Special offices for land assignment

- 1. Assistant Cardamom Settlement Office, Kumily
- 2. Office of Special Tahsildar, Land Assignment, Karimannur (Thodupuzha taluk)
- 3. Office of Special Tahsildar, Land Assignment, Murikassery (Idukki taluk)
- 4. Office of Special Tahsildar, Land Assignment, Idukki (Idukki taluk)
- 5. Office of Special Tahsildar, Land Assignment, Kattappana (Idukki taluk)
- 6. Office of Special Tahsildar, Land Assignment, Nedumkandam (Udumbanchola taluk)

List of villages selected for audit

Sl. No.	Village	Taluk	District	
1.	Aluva East			
2.	Ayyampuzha	Aluva		
3.	Keezhumadu			
4.	Kakkanad			
5.	Elamkulam	Kanayannur	Ernakulam	
6.	Ernakulam			
7.	Arakkuzha			
8.	Muvattupuzha	Muvattupuzha		
9.	Thirumarady			
10.	Attipra			
11.	Sasthamangalam	Thiruvananthapuram		
12.	Vanchiyoor		This are a made a management	
13.	Karakulam		Thiruvananthapuram	
14.	Kurupuzha	Nedumangadu		
15.	Nedumangadu			

Sl. No.	Village	Taluk	District	
16.	Pallivasal			
17.	Mankulam	Devikulam		
18.	Kannan Devan Hills			
19.	Elappully			
20.	Kudayathur	Thodupuzha		
21.	Vannappuram		- Idukki	
22.	Idukki		Idukki	
23.	Ayyappankovil	Idukki		
24.	Kanjikkuzhy			
25.	Anavilasom			
26.	Parathode	Udumbanchola		
27.	Kalkoonthal			
28.	Beypore			
29.	Kasaba	Kozhikkode		
30.	Nagaram		- Kozhikode	
31.	Palayad		Koznikode	
32.	Chekyad	Vadakara		
33.	Kunnummal			

Year-wise details of assignments made in the State

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.5)

a) Assignments made on registry

Year	No. of assignments made on registry based on KLAR	Area involved (in Ha)	No. of assignments made on registry based on RALMCA	Area involved (in Ha)	No. of assignments made based on OFL	Area Involved (in Ha)	
2017-18	5864	1148.7111	125	2.4993	3308	720.4064	
2018-19	5924	872.6162	390	8.9888	2121	375.8253	
2019-20	4807	884.4937	218	3.4268	2322	411.6633	
2020-21	3110	430.6504	306	8.1667	1553	302.3201	
2021-22	1652	491.3929	264	4.0633	1093	551.0271	
TOTAL	21357	3827.8643	1303	27.1449	10397	2361.2422	
Total assig	Total assignments on registry		21357 + 1303+ 10397			33057	
	Total area involved	38	827.8643+27.1449+	-2361.2422	6216.25 Ha		

b) Assignment made on lease

Year	No. of assignments made on lease based on KLAR	Area involved (in Ha)	No. of assignments made on lease based on RALMCA	Area involved (in Ha)	No. of assignments based on Cardamom Rules	Area involved (in Ha)	
2017-18	461	176.9254	246	44.2093	Nil	Nil	
2018-19	321	103.0436	163	63.0967	Nil	Nil	
2019-20	423	104.2709	156	27.5991	Nil	Nil	
2020-21	418	120.1028	191	31.2867	Nil	Nil	
2021-22	287	76.2625	254	28.9815	Nil	Nil	
TOTAL	1910	580.6052	1010	195.1733	Nil	Nil	
Total assignments on lease			1910+1010			2920	
Total area involved						775.78 На	

List of cases where 'Occupied' form of *patta* was issued instead of 'Unoccupied' form

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.12)

Sl. No.	District	Taluk Office	Assignment No	Village	Details of land	Date of issue of patta
1	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 50/2018	Vamanapuram	Survey No. 4232, Sub division No. 2, Area – 2.02 Ares	08.02.2021
2	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 67/2018	Vamanapuram	Survey No. 4232, Sub division No. 2, Area – 3.86 Ares	18.12.2020
3	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 441/2005	Tholicode	Survey No. 1702, Sub division No. 1, Area – 4.05 Ares	15.05.2018
4	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 101/2021	Tholicode	Survey No. 2093, Area - 1.37 Ares	15.02.2021
5	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 442/2015	Tholicode	Survey No. 1702, Sub division No. 1, Area – 2.02 Ares	16.05.2018
6	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 439/05	Tholicode	Survey No. 1702, Sub division No. 1, Area – 4.05 Ares	15.05.2018
7	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 30/2018	Uzhamalakkal	Block No. 50, Resurvey No. 394, Sub division No. 4, Area – 5 Ares	16.05.2018
8	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 320/2019	Tholicode	Survey No. 741/17-2, Sub division No. 2, Area – 1.83 Ares	27.01.2021
9	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA 47/2016	Pangodu	Survey No. 3865, Sub division No. 7 pt, Area – 2.02 Ares	07.09.2020
10	Thiruvananthapuram	Nedumangad	LA No. 63/2021	Pangodu	Survey No. 3865/7, Sub division No. 43, Area – 4.55 Ares	18.01.2021
11	Ernakulam	Aluva	LA No. PF 13/2019	Malayattoor	Block 24, Resurvey No. 103, Sub division No. 13, Area – 4.80 Ares	04.01.2019
12	Ernakulam	Aluva	LA No. PF 19/2019	Malayattoor	Block 22, Resurvey No. 180/9, 223/1 Area – 4.05 Ares and 94 ares	04.01.2019
13	Ernakulam	Muvattupuzha	LA - 5/2019	Muvattupuzha	Survey No. 319, Sub division No. 12-1, Area – 1.93 Ares	01.01.2019
14	Ernakulam	Muvattupuzha	LA - 6/2019	Muvattupuzha	Survey No. 269/4 Area – 4.85 Ares	10.01.2019
15	Ernakulam	Muvattupuzha	LA - 3/2019	Muvattupuzha	Survey No. 321/3-1 Area – 2.02 Ares	10.01.2019
16	Ernakulam	Muvattupuzha	LA - 1/2019	Muvattupuzha	Survey No. 321/3-1 Area – 1.61 Ares	01.01.2019

Appendix 2.4 Irregular continuance of leases under erstwhile rules

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.16)

Name of District	Total No. of lease cases granted in Municipality/ Corporation areas	No. of lease cases not come over to RALMCA	Name of taluk	Total No. of lease cases granted in Panchayats	No. of lease cases where lease rent not fixed under KLAR
Thiruvananthapuram	233	98	Nedumangad Thiruvananthapuam	39	39
			Kanayannur	6	6
Ernakulam	260	256	Aluva	32	12
Linakalam	200	230	Muvattupuzha	104	77
			Idukki	0	NA
T 1 11'	41	41	Devikulam	169	166
Idukki	41	41	Thodupuzha	65	39
			Udumbanchola	21	14
Kozhikode	50	50	Vadakara	2	0
KOZIIIKOUC	30	30	Kozhikode	3	2
Total	584	445		442	356

Non-remittance of lease rent

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.22)

Sl. No.	Name of lessee	Taluk/ District	Rules applicable	Year of commen- cement of lease	on lease	Lease rent pending (₹ in lakh)	Year till which lease rent worked out by the department	Status of lease/ lease rent
1.	Kerala Tourism Development Corporation in respect of Bolgatty palace	Kanayannur	KLAR	1972	13.13	16473.83	March 2021	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
2.	Kerala State Handloom Weavers Co-operative Society Ltd (HANTEX)	Kozhikode	RALMCA	1972	0.03	39.37	March 2019	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
3.	SILK	Kozhikode	RALMCA	1979	5.53	597.98	March 2019	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
4.	All Saints College, Thiruvananthapuram	Thiruvananthapuram	RALMCA	1964	18.50	1119.66	March 2014	Though lease agreement expired in 2014, it was neither renewed nor lease rent refixed
5.	Fort High School, Thiruvananthapuram	Thiruvananthapuram	RALMCA	1904	1.48	447.73	March 2014	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
6.	Rifle Club, Kozhikode	Kozhikode	RALMCA	1973	0.76	72.88	March 2019	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
7.	Cochin Club, Ernakulam	Cochin	RALMCA	1963	3.69	6235.83	March 2022	No agreement has been executed since 1995 and occupying Government land unauthorisedly
8.	M/s Kerala Feeds Ltd	Thodupuzha	KLAR	2013	10.00	66.14	April 2019	Lease rent not paid during 01.11.2018 to 03.01.2020
9.	Thiruvananthapuram Womens Club	Thiruvananthapuram	RALMCA	1961	0.54	141.23	October 2014	The Club is occupying the land unauthorisedly without remitting lease rent
10.	M/s Kerala Working Women's Welfare Society	Devikulam	KLAR	1991	0.50	29.12	Not calculated by the department	The lessee is occupying the land unauthorisedly without remitting lease rent
11.	Coconut Development Board	Ernakulam district	KLAR	1992	49.42	189.89	March 2022	Lease not renewed since April 2019 and lease rent not remitted
						25413.66		

Defective calculation of lease rent

(Reference: Paragraph 2.1.28)

	Monetary	Calculated by Audit			Calculated by DC		
Period	value of the land/cent	Lease rent calculation	Calculated amount (₹)	Remarks	Lease rent calculation	Calculated amount (₹)	Remarks
13.11.1995 to 31.03.1996	150000	150000 x 54 x 139/365 x 20%	6,16,931				Upto 31.03.1996, full amount remitted
01.04.1996 to 31.03.1997	200000	200000 x 54 x 20% x 1	21,60,000	Being a commercial entity, 20% of the	200000 x 54 x 10% x 1	10,80,000	
01.04.1997 to 31.03.1998	200000	200000 x 54 x 20% x 1	21,60,000	market value has been taken for calculation.			No calculation done by the DC
01.04.1998 to 31.03.2001	300000	300000 x 54 x 20% x 3	97,20,000		300000 x 54 x 10% x 3	48,60,000	
01.04.2001 to 31.03.2004	400000	400000 x 54 x 20% x 3	1,29,60,000		400000 x 54 x 10% x 3	64,80,000	
		Total as on 31.03.2004	2,76,16,931		Total as on 31.03.2004	1,24,20,000	
		25% of the total	64,04,232		25% of the total	31,05,000	
01.04.2004 to 31.03.2007	500000	500000 x 54 x 2.5% x 3	20,25,000	Lease arrears to be remitted by the assessee as on 31.03.2007 – 6404232 + 2025000 = 8429232	500000 x 54 x 2.5% x 3	20,25,000	
01.04.2007 to 31.03.2010	550000	550000 x 2.5% x 54 x 3	22,27,500	Total as on 31.03.2010 – 8429232 + 2227500 = 10656732	550000 x 2.5% x 54 x 3	22,27,500	
01.04.2010 to 01.05.2011	700000	700000 x 54 x 2.5% x 396/365	10,25,260		700000 x 54 x 2.5% x 396/365	10,25,260	
02.05.2011 to 31.10.2014	Fair value as on 02.05.2011 - 607287 Market Value 1214574	(1214574 x 2.5% x 54 x 3) + -(1214574 x 54 x 2.5% x 183/365)		Total as on 31.10.2014 – 10656732 + 1025260 + 5741109 = 17423101	(1214574 x 2.5% x 54 x 3) + (1214574 x 54 x 2.5% x 183/365)	57,41,109	
Total			1,74,23,101			1,41,23,869	

Difference = 1,74,23,101 - 1,41,23,869 = ₹32,99,232

Utilisation of assigned land for non-assigned purposes

(Reference: Paragraphs 2.1.30.2 and 2.1.30.3)

Sl. No.	Name of assignee/ heirs	Name of current occupier	Taluk	Rules applicable	Area of land assigned (Ha.are.sqm)	Purpose for which assigned	Purpose for which used
1	Sri. Thomas K Paul	M/s Kattady granites	Muvattupuzha	KLAR	1.71.65	Reside/ cultivate	Mining
2	Purchased by M/s Star granites from pattadars	M/s Star granites	Aluva	KLAR	1.23.91	Cultivation	Mining
3	Sri Chandy Philip	Kattappana Rotary Trust	Udumbanchola	Rules for lease of Government lands for Cardamom cultivation, 1961	0.63.15	Cardamom cultivation	Construction of resort and tennis court
4	Five pattadars ¹³⁶	M/s Aramam Rocks Pvt. Ltd.	Nedumangad	KLAR	0.58.92	Cultivation	Mining
5	Sri Mohammed Iqbal	Sri Mohammed Iqbal	Udumbanchola	Rules for lease of Government lands for Cardamom cultivation, 1961	1.01.21	Cardamom cultivation	Mining

 $^{^{136}}$ Sri. Raveendran - LA No. 33/98, Sri. Manoharan - 34/98, Sri. Sisupalan - 225/01, Smt. Sobhiyabeegum - 113/01, Sri. Sadanandan - 102/85

Appendix 3.1 Non-levy of building tax due to buildings escaping assessment (Reference: Paragraph 3.3)

Sl. No.	Name of the Taluk Office	Name of the local body	No. of cases	Building Tax leviable (₹)
1.	Alathur	Kavassery	38	152850
2.	Adoor	Adoor	3	781200
3.	Changanassery	Changanassery	1	100800
4.	Chavakkad	Venkitangu, Kundazhiyur and Irimbranallur	40	969600
5.	Kanjirapally	Kanjirapally and Parathodu	40	6341400
6.	Kannur	Kannur	8	2403100
7.	Karunagapally	Karunagapally	3	40500
8.	Kottarakkara	Kottarakkara	24	4725600
9.	Koyilandy	Balussery	49	358500
10.	Kunnathunadu	Kunnathunadu	124	6417300
11.	Kuttanad	Pulinkunnu	133	1008900
12.	Mavelikkara	Mavelikkara	20	1585500
13.	Ottapalam	Ottapalam and Cherpulassery	20	2452800
14.	Palakkad	Palakkad	13	7839900
15.	Ranni	Ranni, Angadi	11	375300
16.	Thalapilly	Wadakkanchery	17	3141900
17.	Thamarassery	Kizhakkoth, Koduvally and Unnikulam	605	3541950
18.	Vadakara	Nadapuram	116	1967400
19.	Vythiri	Kalpetta	19	663900
	Total		1284	44868400

Appendix 3.2

Non-assessment of building tax in cases reported by the Village Officer

(Reference: Paragraph 3.3)

Sl. No.	Name of Taluk Office	No. of cases	Building tax leviable (₹)
1.	Alathur	15	348300
2.	Adoor	70	720750
3.	Chavakkad	62	4798200
4.	Ernakulam	52	15629250
5.	Fort Kochi	50	1617000
6.	Hosdurg	21	716100
7.	Kanjirapally	2	129000
8.	Kannur	31	41642850
9.	Karunagapally	58	922800
10.	Kasargode	101	5309200
11.	Koyilandy	330	2546250
12.	Kunnthunadu	2	1716150
13.	Kuttanad	17	94200
14.	Mavelikkara	47	676500
15.	Meenachil	9	303600
16.	Ottapalam	164	5560500
17.	Palakkad	312	8362550
18.	Thalapilly	4	594000
19.	Thamarassery	205	2074650
20.	Tirur	609	20670650
21.	Thiruvananthapuram	218	33206000
22.	Vadakara	143	5006400
23.	Vaikom	130	3346500
24.	Vythiri	24	2284200
	Total	2676	158275600

Appendix 3.3 Details of cases of non/ short levy of building tax detected in joint physical verification

(Reference: Paragraph 3.3)

Sl. No.	Name of Taluk Office	No. of cases detected	Building tax leviable (₹)
1.	Chavakkad	2	2764800
2.	Fort Kochi	2	2621160
3.	Hosdurg	3	3049200
4.	Kannur	14	15552800
5.	Karthikapally	6	2306700
6.	Karunagapally	10	3422700
7.	Kasaragode	4	738900
8.	Kottarakkara	2	3993300
9.	Kunnathunadu	32	5695050
10.	Mavelikkara	10	3111000
11.	Meenachil	1	2096060
12.	Ottappalam	13	9887400
13.	Palakkad	16	13714200
14.	Thalappilly	2	230400
15.	Thamarasserry	9	7275600
16.	Thiruvananthapuram	1	24511500
17.	Thrissur	17	3814350
18.	Vythiri	5	8022600
	Total	149	112807720

Appendix 3.4

Excess interest collected from beneficiaries during 2013-14 to 2020-21

(Reference: Paragraph 3.5)

	(Reference: 1 urugrupu 5.5)								
	Micro Fina	nce Scheme		Mahila Samriddhi Yojana					
Year Collected (a) six per cent		Interest to be collected @ five per cent	Excess interest collected	Interest collected @ six per cent	Interest to be collected @ four per cent	Excess interest collected			
(1)	(2)	(3) = (2) * 5/6	(4)	(5)	(6) = (5) * 4/6	(7)			
2013-14	9496750	7913958	1582792	777006	8 5180045	2590023			
2014-15	11776799	9813999	1962800	900578	8 6003859	3001929			
2015-16	7830811	6525676	1305135	460636	0 3070907	1535453			
2016-17	15876249	13230208	2646042	1094913	7 7299425	3649712			
2017-18	12386325	10321938	2064388	688129	1 4587527	2293764			
2018-19	15008086	12506738	2501348	700377	4 4669183	2334591			
2019-20	13922578	11602148	2320430	754139	7 5027598	2513799			
2020-21	14437169	12030974	2406195	427612	7 2850751	1425376			
Total			16789130			19344647			
Grand total						36133777			

© COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA

https://cag.gov.in